

15 June 2022

# **Statement of Proposals**

# Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration)

The Joint Administrators' Report to Creditors and Statement of Proposals for the period from 22 April 2022 to 15 June 2022

The Chancery 58 Spring Gardens Manchester M2 1EW

### **Contents**

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Creditor Summary	2
3.	Background	4
4.	Events Leading up to the Administration	6
5.	Strategy and Progress of the Administration to Date	9
6.	Statement of Affairs	14
7.	Investigations	15
8.	Joint Administrators' Pre-Administration Costs, Remuneration and Expenses	15
9.	Dividend Prospects	19
10.	End of Administration	21
11.	Joint Administrators' Proposals	22
App	pendices	
App	endix 1 – Statutory Information	29
App	endix 2 – Joint Administrators' Receipts and Payments Accounts	30
App	endix 3 – Schedule of Creditors and Estimated Financial Position	31
App	endix 4 – Analysis of Time Charged Incurred for the Insolvency Estate	36
App	endix 5 – Fee Estimate for the Insolvency Estate	41
App	endix 6 – Fee Narrative for the Insolvency Estate	42
App	pendix 7 – Expenses Estimate for the Insolvency Estate	46
App	endix 8 – Analysis of Time Charged for the Client Estate	48
App	pendix 9 – Statement of Creditors' Rights	49
App	pendix 10 – Proof of Debt Form	51
App	pendix 11 – Definitions	52
App	pendix 12 – Notice about this Statement of Proposals	56
App	pendix 13 – Notice of Invitation to Form a Creditors' Committee	57
App	pendix 14 - Nomination for Membership of the Creditors' Committee and Consent to Act Form	58
App	endix 15 – Notice of Seeking Decision by Deemed Consent of the Proposals	59



~ 1 ~

### 1. Introduction

The Joint Administrators were appointed on the Appointment Date by the Court, following an application by the Director.

The Order was made by the High Court of Justice, Business and Property Courts of England and Wales, Insolvency and Companies List (Chd), Companies Court, Number 001095 of 2022.

This report is the Joint Administrators' statutory Statement of Proposals. It sets out the circumstances leading up to their appointment and their strategy for achieving the purpose of the Administration. This document should be read alongside the supplementary information provided at www.philipstrust.co.uk.

You will find other important information in this report such as the proposed basis of the Joint Administrators' remuneration.

A glossary of the abbreviations and definitions used throughout this document is attached at Appendix 11.

Please also note that an important legal notice about this Statement of Proposals is attached at Appendix 12.

These Proposals are being delivered via the Portal (<u>www.ips-docs.com</u>) and are deemed delivered on the date they are first uploaded to the Portal, being 15 June 2022.

There are statutory forms within this document, Clients (and other creditors) are advised that it is not mandatory to return these forms and it will not affect any of their future rights to claim in the Administration if they choose not to do so.

### 2. Creditor Summary

### **Background**

The Company was incorporated on 6 December 2017 under company registration number 11099933.

The Company carries out the business of a trust corporation that provides estate planning and corporate trustee services.

The Company's registered address as at the Appointment Date was Suite B, 11th Floor, 5 Exchange Quay, Salford, M5 3EF.

Detailed information in relation to the Company's history, background and the main events leading up to the appointment of the Joint Administrators is provided in Section 3 and Section 4 of this report.

Statutory information on the Company is included at Appendix 1.



### **Events Leading up to Administration**

The Joint Administrators understand that for some time, the Company had suffered increasing operational challenges and was operating on a loss-making basis. Further details surrounding the events leading up to the Administration can be found in Section 4.

### **Appointment**

The Joint Administrators were appointed on the Appointment Date by the Court, following an application by the Director.

A copy of the Order has been made available to view on the Portal and on the Company's website.

### **Trading**

Upon their appointment, and having regard to the difficulties being faced, the Joint Administrators immediately suspended the ability for Clients to withdraw or transfer from the Trust Estate. The rationale behind this decision was to enable the Joint Administrators and their staff to complete a full reconciliation of client information using the Company's books and records.

Undertakings have been provided by the Joint Administrators to key suppliers to enable the reconciliation exercise to be undertaken and certain employees have been retained to assist with this and in trading the business on a limited basis.

The reconciliation exercise is ongoing, and clients will be kept appraised of any developments.

### **Asset Realisations**

The Company has few tangible assets available to realise. The main assets of the Company are its book of clients, the associated book and records and the Company's contractual right to raise certain charges for services provided to its clients.

Client assets are described separately in this report and do not feature on the Balance Sheet of the Company.

### Investigations

Detailed investigations into the Company's affairs will be undertaken to assess whether there are causes of action which could be taken by the Joint Administrators to generate potential recoveries for creditors.

### **Fees and Expenses**

The basis of the Joint Administrators' remuneration and expenses acting in relation to the Company and its estate assets and liabilities will be subject to the approval by the duly appointed Creditors' Committee (or creditors generally if a Creditors' Committee cannot be constituted). To the extent that there are insufficient assets available in the Company's estate to meet those costs and expenses, approval will be



sought from the Court to deduct these from Trust Assets, pursuant to the Court Order, further details of which are within this report.

The Joint Administrators' remuneration in managing the Trusts and reconciling Trust Assets will be subject to approval from the Court, again pursuant to the Court Order.

### **Dividend Prospects**

Based on the current information available to the Joint Administrators, it is uncertain whether there will be sufficient asset realisations to enable a distribution to be paid the Secured, Preferential, or Unsecured Creditors of the Company.

### **Anticipated Exit from Administration**

Administrations automatically come to an end after the period of one year, unless the Company's creditors agree to extend this period, or the Court orders the Administrator's term of office to be extended for a specified period.

Based upon findings to date, it is anticipated that the Administration will be extended beyond one year given the complexity of the issues and timing of certain asset realisations.

At the date of these Proposals, it is anticipated that the most likely exit route will be via dissolution, however, this will be kept under review and alternative exit routes may be considered. The types of exit routes are detailed in Section 10.

A further update will be provided to creditors in future Progress Reports.

### **Approval of Proposals**

The Joint Administrators are seeking approval to their Proposals via a deemed consent decision procedure. Further details can be found at Section 11.

This document in its entirety is the Joint Administrators' Statement of Proposals. A summary list of the Proposals is included in Section 11, together with the relevant statutory information by way of appendices.

Unless otherwise stated, all amounts in these Proposals are stated net of VAT.

### 3. Background

Statutory information on the Company is included at Appendix 1. This section should be read in conjunction with the Director's Witness Statement dated 12 April 2022 and the Kroll Report to Court dated 11 April 2022, (both of which were included in the Application Documents filed in support of the Administration Application) and both can be found at <a href="https://www.philipstrust.co.uk/">https://www.philipstrust.co.uk/</a>.

This section provides an update on the disclosures made in both documents.



The Company was incorporated on 6 December 2017. The Company was founded and wholly owned by Richard Wells ("Former Director") and who at the time of incorporation, acted as the sole director of the Company.

The Joint Administrators understand that the original intention for the incorporation of the business was to offer corporate trustee services to clients of the Former Director's other business interests. The Former Director resigned as a director of the Company in March 2019, following which his shareholding in the Company was sold to After Today.

After Today was incorporated in March 2019 and was used as a vehicle to purchase the shares of the Company. It is now wholly owned by Kay Collins ("Director") who is also the sole director of the Company.

Prior to the incorporation of the Company, various building societies based in the North of England had a relationship with The Will Writing Company Limited ("WWC") whereby the building societies advised customers of an option to obtain a free will by utilising the services of WWC. This often resulted in the customers engaging WWC to arrange the drafting of wills and lasting power of attorneys. It is understood that approximately 95,000 clients were introduced to WWC by the various building societies.

As an additional service, clients were introduced to The Family Trust Corporation Limited ("FTC"), which was an associated company to WWC and shared common ownership via The Estate Planning Group (Holdings) Limited ("EPG"). FTC was a trust corporation which acted as a corporate trustee and engaged with clients to arrange trust agreements and provided advice on the benefit of such an arrangement. The Joint Administrators are informed that approximately 6,500 clients entered into a trust agreement, which stemmed from the original introduction by the building societies and WWC.

It is understood that clients were charged an initial fee to setup and arrange the trust agreement, with no further fees being applicable. As a result of FTC's inability to generate ongoing revenue, FTC was reliant upon WWC to provide financial and operational support. WWC entered into Administration in February 2018.

Considering the uncertain financial position of FTC, its shareholders agreed a sale of the shares in FTC to Luxor Wells Limited in April 2018, a holding company wholly owned by the Former Director. Soon after the acquisition, Richard Wells became the sole director of FTC.

Immediately following the acquisition and in light of FTC's financial position and inability to generate further revenue from existing clients, FTC's director notified its clients of its intentions to retire as corporate trustee and offered Clients three options, being:

- Appoint the Company as a replacement trustee with an alternative fee structure; or
- Appoint a third party as a replacement trustee; or
- Remove the asset(s) from the trust.

A large number of Clients opted to appoint the Company, PTC, as their replacement trustee. Following this, steps were taken by FTC to transfer Clients' Trust Assets (which included properties and existing retail investments) across to the Company. With regard to retail investments held by FTC on behalf of its



trust clients, these were realised and the funds forwarded to the Company in its capacity as Corporate Trustee for investment on behalf of its Clients.

As at the Appointment Date, the Director advised the Joint Administrators that the Company acted as the Corporate Trustee for approximately 2,345 trusts. These trusts hold assets which the Director states has an estimated value of £138m and include a mixture of Trust property, interests in investment bonds and other financial investments. It is understood that the existing current client base were all former clients of FTC and no new clients have been onboarded by the Company.

It should be noted that the Joint Administrators are currently in the process of reconciling the number of trusts the Company acts as corporate trustee for as well as the value of the trust assets held.

At the Appointment Date, the Company employed 7 members of staff and was headquartered at Suite B, 11th Floor, 5 Exchange Quay, Salford, M5 3EF.

### 4. Events Leading up to the Administration

### 4.1 Summary of Key Events

Following the transfer of clients from FTC to the Company as detailed in the above section, the Company made decisions to invest the majority of Trust monies on behalf of its Clients into privately owned UK entities ("Investment Management Companies") in the form of unsecured corporate / investment bonds.

Those investments were usually for a duration of 2-6 years and at the time offered returns of up to 10% per annum. All investments were made in the name of the Company and not in the name of specific Trusts.

The nature of these investments did not provide the Company with a mechanism to access cash easily and to redeem their investments early without financial penalty if liquidity was required by either the Trust clients or the beneficiaries of a Trust. In the event that funds were accessible, this was on a limited basis given the nature of the investments made and pursuant to the terms of the investment bonds. This was largely because the funds invested into the Investment Management Companies were utilised to support onwards lending to third party borrowers and as such, they were reliant upon these borrowers to repay funds ahead of agreed repayment dates before it was in a position to repay the Company early.

A small proportion of Trust monies were invested into readily tradeable stock and shares investments with AJ Bell and subsequently St James Place Wealth Management, which provided liquidity in the Trusts. These investments were subsequently redeemed by the Company and the funds were additionally invested into the above detailed corporate / investment bonds.

The Company's inability to redeem funds invested into the corporate bonds resulted in it resorting to utilising interest receipts from Trust Asset investments made, new capital investments from Clients and in a few instances funds from Trust property sales to account to clients and beneficiaries who wished to withdraw assets from Trust.



The Company has been unable to service the requests of the Clients in the months leading up to the Appointment Date. This includes requests for the withdrawal of Trust assets, the provision of an update on the value of investments held on trust as well as general administration requests.

Whilst this has in part been a result of the investment decisions made by the Company and the inability to redeem funds held in investments with ease, it has been compounded by operational challenges faced by the Company. These include:

- the loss of key employees since July 2020 without their replacement. In all, employee numbers reduced from around 60 as at July 2020, down to only 7 as at the Appointment Date;
- the temporary loss of access to data relating to Trusts administered on behalf of Clients;
- the failure to maintain adequate client accounting records;
- the inability to access client funds to pay annual management charges incurred and payable to the Company and which created working capital constraints; and
- the methodology used to invest Clients' cash assets, including the pooling of funds, which has
  made it problematic for the Company to determine the current holding and value of assets on a
  trust-by-trust basis.

These issues have significantly impeded the Company's ability to administer the Trusts or provide any ancillary services and resulted in service level deterioration.

Whilst the Company is not and has never been authorised by the FCA, between January 2020 and November 2020 it was an IAR of St. James's Place Wealth Management Plc. An IAR is a firm or person who can carry out limited financial promotions and effect introductions under the responsibility of an authorised financial services firm. An IAR does not need to seek authorisation from the FCA to carry on these activities.

The FCA had been carrying out enquiries about certain activities of the Company due to the concern that it had been undertaking regulated activity when it was not authorised to do so.

In an effort to deal with these concerns, the Company sought to become FCA authorised, however the application was declined in October 2021.

In light of these factors and the fact that the Company has been operating at a loss and exhausted its own cash reserves, the Director of the Company took the decision to seek professional advice.

The Company had retained forensic accountants to investigate and reconcile the trust accounting and asset position and was exploring insolvency or wind-down strategies with its legal advisors and other restructuring advisory firms, including Mazars and Interpath.

Kroll were consulted in February 2022 during which time the Company was in active dialogue with the FCA.

The conclusion reached by the Director was that the Company could not continue its current business activities and steps should be taken to initiate an insolvency process.



At that time, the FCA was continuing its enquiries into the Company on whether it was carrying out regulated business whilst unregulated. The Joint Administrators understand that the FCA has not made definitive findings or issued any proceedings at this stage.

### 4.2 Pre-Administration Work

A summary of the work undertaken in the two months prior to the Administration was set out in the Report to Court. A copy of the Report to Court has been made available for viewing on the Portal and the PTC website. This report provides further details into the work undertaken by Kroll prior to the appointment of the Joint Administrators.

This work was necessary to place the Company into Administration. Kroll carried this out under an engagement letter signed by the Director of the Company dated 22 February 2022.

The Joint Administrators are satisfied that the work carried out by Kroll prior to their appointment, including the pre-Administration work detailed above, has not created a conflict of interest or threat to our independence.

Prior to appointment, the Joint Administrators had limited opportunity to investigate in detail the Company's affairs; or to develop a complete understanding of all the issues which the Company faces.

As detailed earlier in this report, the Joint Administrators, with the assistance of retained employees are conducting a detailed reconciliation exercise to ascertain the current position of each category of Trust Client.

At all times prior to Administration, the Director remained responsible for, and in control of, the Company's affairs. During this time, the insolvency practitioners took their own steps to prepare for their potential appointment as Joint Administrators.

### 4.3 Appointment of Joint Administrators

Geoffrey Bouchier and James Saunders of Kroll were appointed Joint Administrators of the Company at 12:22 pm on 22 April 2022 by order of the Court following an application made by the Director.

The application to Court was made because, in the circumstances, the Administrators required certain powers and permissions to enable them to carry out their functions, which required the Court's approval.

The Joint Administrators considered their position prior to accepting the appointment, having regard to the Insolvency Practitioners Association's ethical guidelines.

The Joint Administrators detailed Kroll's prior involvement with the Company in the Report to Court. The consent to act forms were also filed in Court in support of the Administration application and shared with the FCA in advance of that hearing. The Joint Administrators formed the view that there were no circumstances preventing them from accepting the appointment as Joint Administrators.



As part of the Administration Application, the Joint Administrators suggested that the Court set a return date for a follow up hearing to allow the Joint Administrators to provide an update on their progress. The Court agreed with this suggestion and Ordered that a Progress Hearing be held on 6 July 2022.

### 5. Strategy and Progress of the Administration to Date

### 5.1 Purpose of the Administration

The purpose of an Administration is to achieve one of the following hierarchal objectives:

- Rescuing the Company as a going concern;
- Achieving a better result for the Company's creditors as a whole than would be likely if the company were wound up (without first being in Administration); or
- Realising property in order to make a distribution to one or more Secured or Preferential Creditors.

The Joint Administrators believe that the first objective will not be achievable as there were insufficient funds and assets to enable the Company to be rescued as a going concern. Similarly, the operations of the business had effectively been suspended for some time and as such Clients were taking steps to secure the removal of the Company as Trustee which would continue to erode the Company's key revenue stream. Furthermore, the Company faced reputational problems and was not considered to be in a position to accept new Clients.

The Report to Court contains the Joint Administrators views as to why they consider there is a real prospect of achieving the second objective, namely a better result for the Company's creditors as a whole than would be likely if the Company were wound up without first being in Administration.

The Joint Administrators' duties are as follows:

- To realise assets for the benefit of the Administration estate of the Company;
- To carry out an investigation into the Company's affairs to determine whether any claims may be brought against third parties which would benefit creditors of the Administration estate;
- To distribute funds to the creditors of the Company in the order of priorities set out under UK insolvency legislation

The Joint Administrators' Proposals for achieving the purpose of the Administration are set out in the remainder of this report.

### 5.2 Progress of the Administration

The manner in which the affairs and business of the Company have been managed since the appointment of Joint Administrators, and will continue to be managed and financed, are set out below.



~ 9 ~

### 5.2.1 Administration Strategy

As outlined in the Report to Court, the Joint Administrators' initial strategy was to:

- Undertake a forensic accounting reconciliation exercise to collate a complete register of current active trusts, detailing the assets held on a trust-by-trust basis;
- Understand the current position of investments made by the Company utilising Trust Assets,
  as well as seeking to establish an estimate of the current value of those investments (including
  capital and interest) and likely investment maturity dates;
- Facilitate the transfer of Trustee and / or withdrawal of Trust Assets, in accordance with the
  Trust Deeds and subject to the direction of the Court, as part of a strategy to wind-down the
  Company's business.
- Realise Company assets that form part of the general Insolvency estate and distribute these to creditors where funds allow.

### **Trust Estate**

This section deals with the Trust Estate which includes proprietary rights of the Clients.

The Trust Estate does not form part of the Insolvency Estate, however a summary update has been included in this Proposal document given the close relationship between them.

### 5.2.2 Trust Estate Administration and Activity Suspension

The Company continues to act as the Trustee of the client Trusts, however this is now being conducted under the supervision of the Joint Administrators.

As explained in the Director's Witness Statement dated 12 April 2022, filed in support of the Administration application, the Company has maintained inadequate Client accounting records and does not have accurate records of the Trust Estate on a trust-by-trust basis.

The Joint Administrators understand that the Company had engaged the services of Dains to undertake a forensic reconstruction of the Company's client ledger; however, this exercise remained incomplete at the time of the Administration appointment.

As a consequence of this, upon their appointment, the Joint Administrators immediately suspended the ability for Clients to withdraw or transfer from the Trust Estate.

The suspension of the ability for Clients to withdraw or transfer from the Trust Estate was considered a necessary step to ensure that no Client's interests are promoted at the expense of others whilst an investigation and reconciliation exercise of the Trust Estate is being performed, as detailed below.

### 5.2.3 Trust Estate Reconciliation Exercise

As explained above, the Company does not hold an accurate record of its Client account transactions and balances, and at the Appointment Date was unable to provide a reconciliation of Client monies to the Trust Estate.



Following their appointment, the Joint Administrators immediately commenced a detailed review of both the Company's financial position and that of the Trust Estate which includes:

- Establishing the current financial position of the Company as at the date of Administration;
- Undertaking a forensic accounting reconciliation exercise to collate a complete register of current active Trusts, detailing the assets held on a trust-by-trust basis; and
- Liaising with external parties to confirm the current position of investments made by the Company utilising the Trust Assets, as well as seeking to establish an estimate of the current value of those investments (including capital and interest) and likely investment maturity dates.

The Joint Administrators have re-engaged the services of Dains to assist with the reconciliation of Client assets.

At this stage, whilst the reconciliation process is ongoing, the Joint Administrators are unable to provide Clients with an up-to-date value of their investments held within the Trust Estate.

### 5.2.4 Trust Estate Assets

At the date of Administration, the Joint Administrators understood that the Trust Estate included residential property settled by the Client (Dry Trusts), cash investments or both property and cash investments (both referred to as Wet Trusts). The Director estimated that £44m of client monies is invested by the Company on behalf of the Trust Estate, and that the aggregate market value of the properties held by the Trust Estate was around £94m.

### **Dry Trust Estate Assets**

In addition to the general role of realising assets for the benefit of its creditors, a key role of the Administrators will be to administer the Trust Estate on behalf of the Clients.

As included in the Report to Court, it was understood from representations made by the Director that there were 808 Trusts which were residential Property Settled trusts i.e. Dry Trusts.

However, the reconciliation work that has been undertaken by the Joint Administrators to date has identified 942 Dry Trusts.

The reconciliation exercise is ongoing as the books and records of the Company are inaccurate and incomplete; however, the Joint Administrators are drawing on multiple sources to complete the exercise.

The Joint Administrators aim is to have a definitive list of Dry Trust Clients to enable them to deal with each line of enquiry and fulfil trust obligations to the extent possible.

It is the intention of the Joint Administrators as a result of the reconciliation of the legal titles and the status of each property, to then classify each property into different categories in which the Joint Administrators will then look to deal with each category of property appropriately.



Where required, the Joint Administrators will then look to market any vacant properties so that realisations can be achieved for the benefit of the individual trusts.

### Wet Trust Estate Assets

The Company has used Trust Estate assets (specifically cash) to invest into four privately owned UK entities (being the IMCs).

The investments are in the form of unsecured corporate / investment bonds. Those investments were usually for a duration of 2-6 years and initially offered returns of up to 10% per annum. All investments were made in the name of the Company and not in the name of specific Trusts.

The Joint Administrators are in direct contact with the four IMCs who have each confirmed the existence of investments held by the Company. The confirmed capital value of Trust Estate monies invested by PTC is circa £44m. At the Appointment Date, the investment with the highest rate of return was 7.25% per annum.

The value of these investments is subject to the IMCs fulfilling their contractual obligations to redeem the bonds upon maturity. The Joint Administrators will continue to seek regular updates from the IMCs.

During the Reporting Period, the Joint Administrators have received £93,729 from one of the IMCs representing interest on investments.

A further receipt of £83,155 was received from the same IMC however the Joint Administrators have been notified that those funds may relate to FTC or its Clients. This is currently being reviewed.

### 5.2.5 Trust Estate - Cash at Bank

The Company held various bank accounts with Barclays prior to the appointment of the Joint Administrators.

The Joint Administrators wrote to Barclays to ascertain the position of each bank account upon their appointment. Barclays confirmed that they held 18 separate bank accounts, 15 of which were understood to be Client accounts, and provided a breakdown of the funds held in each account.

The aggregate sum held in those accounts was £127,554, and this sum has been received from Barclays. The Joint Administrators consider these monies relate to the Trust Estate, and as such, these monies have been transferred into the Trust Estate clients' account operated by the Joint Administrators.

No further funds are anticipated from the Barclays bank accounts.

### 5.2.6 Transfer from Trust Estate to Insolvency Estate

As referred to in Section 5.3, and in accordance with the Court Order, an initial sum of £34,145 has been transferred from the Trust Estate to the Insolvency Estate to meet operational expenses including wages and salaries. Details are shown on the attached Receipts & Payments Accounts at Appendix 2.



### **Insolvency Estate**

This section deals with Company assets which belong to the Company or to which it is entitled.

Company Assets are assets included within the Insolvency Estate and are available for distribution to creditors after the costs and expenses of the Administration have been deducted.

### 5.2.7 Insolvency Estate - Income / Debtors

The Company's principal form of revenue was generated from fees earned in the administration of the Client Trusts. The Company was contractually entitled to draw fees in respect of matters such as, but not limited to, revenue accruing over the life of the Trusts in the form of Annual Management Charges and the sale of properties held on Trust by the Company on behalf of its beneficiaries.

The Company records indicate that circa £402,430 is due to the Company on account of undrawn AMC's however, due to the quality of the Company's books and records, we are at this stage unable to verify this balance. In light of this the Joint Administrators consider that the quantum of fees due to the Company, whether invoiced or otherwise, remains uncertain and as such the Joint Administrators continue to work to ascertain the value of funds due to the Company from the Trust Estate as part of their ongoing review and reconciliation exercise.

A further update will be provided to creditors in the Joint Administrators' first Progress Report to creditors.

### 5.2.8 Insolvency Estate - Leasehold Premises

The Company operated from offices at Building 5, Exchange Quay, Salford. There was no executed lease in place at the date of appointment and the Joint Administrators have agreed to enter a short-term rolling licence to occupy the Leasehold Premises.

### 5.2.9 Insolvency Estate - Tangible Assets

The Company has a limited tangible asset base given the nature of the business. The tangible assets consist of office furniture, fixtures and fittings and IT equipment.

As above, the Joint Administrators continue to use the Company's Leasehold Premises and have retained Company staff to continue to administer the Trusts. Therefore, the Joint Administrators still require the use of the Company's tangible assets and are not currently in a position to realise these.

The Joint Administrators will engage third-party asset agents at the appropriate time to value and realise the assets for the benefit of the Insolvency Estate. At this stage, an estimated to realise value has not been attributed to tangible assets but the Joint Administrators do not expect any significant realisations in this regard.

A further update will be provided in the Joint Administrators' first Progress Report to creditors.



### 5.2.10 Insolvency Estate - Cash at Bank

There was a nominal sum held in the Company's office account at the date of appointment and Barclays has retained this to set off against its loan account balance. No further funds are anticipated from the Barclays bank accounts.

### 5.2.11 Insolvency Estate - Other Assets

The Joint Administrators will investigate all assets on the Statement of Affairs once received from the Director to ensure that any realisable assets are recovered for the benefit of the Insolvency Estate.

Creditors will be kept appraised in future progress reports should any further assets become known.

### 5.2.12 Transfer from Trust Estate to Insolvency Estate

As noted above, and in accordance with the Court Order, an initial sum of £34,145 has been transferred from the Trust Estate to the Insolvency Estate to meet operational expenses including wages and salaries.

### 5.3 Cost of Realisations

Appendix 2 contains Receipts and Payments Accounts for both the Insolvency Estate and the Trust Estate.

The payments made from the Insolvency Estate will include those related to maintaining the trust administration services conducted by the Company. The most significant cost to date is wages payments totalling £30,544 made to the employees retained to assist the Joint Administrators with their tasks. This amount includes the unpaid arrears for March 2022.

Further wages and salaries will be paid to the retained employees until such a time that their services are no longer required.

### 6. Statement of Affairs

In accordance with Paragraph 47 of Schedule B1 to the Act, the Joint Administrators requested a SOA for the Company as at the Appointment Date from the Director. To date this has not been received.

In the absence of a SOA, the Joint Administrators attach at Appendix 3 an estimate of the Company's financial position and a schedule of known creditors' names and addresses as at the Appointment Date.

The information has been collated from the Company's books and records and is subject to ongoing review. The Joint Administrators have not carried out any audit or detailed verification work on the information provided and the figures do not include the costs of the Administration.



### 7. Investigations

The Joint Administrators have a statutory obligation to file a report with the BEIS regarding the conduct of any director that has held office in the three years prior to the Administration (including any shadow directors). This report must be filed within three months from the Appointment Date and the content of this report is confidential.

The Joint Administrators also have a duty to investigate the Company's affairs in order to maximise the return to creditors. This includes conducting investigations to identify any antecedent transactions which include (but are not limited to):

- Transactions at an undervalue, under Section 238 of the Act;
- Preferences, under Section 239 of the Act;
- Wrongful Trading, under Section 214 of the Act; and
- Transactions to defraud creditors, under Section 423 of the Act.

The purpose of undertaking these detailed investigations into the Company's affairs is to assess whether there are potential causes of actions against third parties which could be taken by the Joint Administrators to generate potential recoveries for creditors. As part of this, the Joint Administrators may engage specialist legal advisors to assist with the investigations and the formulation of legal claims.

If any creditor has any information concerning the Company's affairs that they would like to bring to the Joint Administrators' attention, please do so by writing to PTC@kroll.com or by post to Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration) c/o Kroll, The Chancery, 58 Spring Gardens, Manchester, M2 1FW

In addition to the above general duty, and as part of the client account reconciliation exercise, the Joint Administrators are also reviewing all transactions conducted via the Clients' account bank accounts and any unusual and / or unexplained transactions will be investigated. Details of findings in this regard will be reported as and when appropriate.

### 8. Joint Administrators' Pre-Administration Costs, Remuneration and Expenses

The Joint Administrators remuneration and costs falls into two categories; those incurred in relation to the Trust Estate, and those incurred in relation to the Insolvency Estate.

### **Trust Estate**

This section deals with the Joint Administrators' remuneration and the costs and expenses incurred in relation to the Trust Estate.

### 8.1 Time Costs, Remuneration and Expenses

As noted above, as part of the application to Court for the making of the Order, the Director also sought ancillary relief from the Court to order that the Joint Administrators be permitted to use the Trust Assets



to meet the costs and expenses of the Administration. A copy of the sealed Order, together with the Report to Court has been made available to Clients via the Portal and the Company's website.

The Court did grant the relief sought and ordered that the Administrators be permitted to utilise the Trust Assets to meet the following costs and expenses incurred in the Administration:

- a. The post-Administration costs and expenses incurred by the Company, acting by the Joint Administrators, engaging Company employees to provide future Trust administration services (or of such alternative service provider should the Joint Administrators so determine);
- b. The remuneration of the Joint Administrators for:
  - i. The Trust administration supervision tasks;
  - ii. Dealing with Client related matters, in particular dealing with enquiries from Clients;
  - iii. Dealing with issues concerning the FCA;
  - iv. Court applications relating to Trust Estate and/or Client matters
  - v. Collecting PTC Fees and Costs payable from the Trust Estate to the Company
- c. Legal costs incurred by the Joint Administrators dealing with Trust Estate; and
- d. One-half of the costs incurred (including the remuneration of the Joint Administrators) in establishing and conducting the affairs of the Creditors' Committee (as defined in the Report to Court).

Further to the above, the Court has ordered that the work done pursuant to the powers of the Joint Administrators under the Act and the Rules and any relevant practice direction relating to the estate of the Company, including but not limited to:

- a. any unpaid pre-Administration costs approved for payment in accordance with r.3.52 of the Rules;
- b. the preparation of the reports required by the Act, including the Proposals to Creditors, the progress reports, the report to the insolvency service on the conduct of directors;
- c. the collection of the Company's assets and the adjudication of creditors' claims if there is a distribution; and
- d. responding to creditors' enquiries

be paid for in accordance with the provisions of payment of officeholders' remuneration, costs, and expenses in the Rules from the Company's Insolvency Estate assets, save that one-half of the costs of establishing and running the Creditors' Committee (if established) be paid from the Trust Assets.

If and to the extent that the Insolvency Estate assets are insufficient to pay any categories of work falling within the above in full, the Joint Administrators are permitted to pay for that work from the Trust Assets, subject to the subsequent approval of the Court as to the amount so paid.

For the purposes of the Administration Application, the Report to Court, included an estimate of the costs which they then considered may be incurred in dealing with Trust Estate matters over the first 16 weeks of the Administration. That estimate, which was based on the limited knowledge at that time and many assumptions regarding the timings of tasks to be undertaken, was £1.22m.



The Joint Administrators' total time costs incurred from the Appointment Date to 12 June 2022 (being approximately 7 weeks) in respect of Trust Estate matters totals £377,263, representing 808 hours at an average hourly rate of £467.

The Joint Administrators will provide further details relating to their actual costs incurred and estimated future costs and expenses in dealing with the Trust Estate at the Progress Hearing on 6 July 2022.

### **Insolvency Estate**

This section details the Joint Administrators' remuneration and the costs and expenses of the Administration in accordance with the Act and Rules, as appropriate.

### 8.2 Statement of Pre-Administration Costs

Pre-Administration costs are fees, charges and expenses incurred by the Joint Administrators before the Company entered Administration but with a view to it doing so.

The agreement under which the pre-Administration costs were incurred was via an engagement letter dated 22 February 2022 in which the Company engaged Kroll to assist the Director in formulating and assisting with implementation of an insolvency strategy which would best protect the interests of Clients and creditors.

The pre-Administration time costs incurred by Kroll from engagement to the Appointment Date total £211,427 representing 334 hours at an average charge out rate of £633 per hour. The time costs incurred by Kroll relate to the work summarised in Section 4.2 above, which was necessary to place the Company into Administration as well as obtain the necessary directions and ancillary relief from Court as mentioned earlier.

A detailed breakdown of the time costs incurred pre-Administration is detailed at Appendix 4.

A summary of the total pre-Administration costs incurred are set out below:

Pre-Administration Costs	Paid (£)	Unpaid (£)	Total (£)
Kroll	0.00	£211,427	£211,427
Guildhall Chambers (Counsel)	0.00	£8,300	£8,300
Glaisyers	0.00	£46,588	£46,588
Total	0.00	£266,315	£266,315

The Company had insufficient monies to pay any of the pre-Administration costs prior to the Administration appointment.

The Joint Administrators confirm that payment of the unpaid pre-Administration costs, as an expense of the Administration, is subject to approval under Rule 3.52 of the Rules, and is not part of the Proposals, subject to approval under Paragraph 53 of Schedule B1 to the Act.



~ 17 ~

The Joint Administrators are seeking approval of payment of these costs from the Creditors' Committee (or creditors generally if a Creditors' Committee is not constituted) in due course.

In the event that there are insufficient asset realisations in the Insolvency Estate, the Joint Administrators will also be seeking Court approval to the drawing of these costs and expenses from the Trust Estate.

### 8.3 Time Costs and Remuneration

The Joint Administrators' total time costs incurred from the Appointment Date to 12 June 2022 relating to the Insolvency Estate totals £120,375, representing 302 hours at an average hourly rate of £399. Time is charged in six-minute units.

A breakdown of the Joint Administrators' time costs can be found at Appendix 4, and a summary of the tasks undertaken from the Appointment Date to 12 June 2022 can also be found at Appendix 4.

The Joint Administrators' Fee Estimate for the Insolvency Estate is included at Appendix 5. The Fee Estimate, which quantifies the total amount of time and therefore cost currently anticipated to be spent over the duration of the insolvency process.

Also attached at Appendix 6 is the Fees Narrative, a summary of key issues, to assist creditors in understanding the strategy of the Joint Administrators, the associated costs and expenses of the related activities and the financial benefit to creditors.

The Joint Administrators acknowledge that the Fee Estimate is that an estimate, and is based on a number of assumptions, some of which will be accurate and some of which may not be, thereby resulting in future costs differing from the estimate.

The Joint Administrators are seeking approval from the Creditors' Committee (or creditors generally if a Creditors' Committee is not constituted) in due course.

In the event that there are insufficient asset realisations in the Insolvency Estate, the Joint Administrators will also be seeking Court approval to the drawing of these costs and expenses from the Trust Estate.

### 8.4 Expenses

Expenses are any payments from the Administration which are neither an Administrator's remuneration nor a distribution to a creditor or member. Expenses also include disbursements. Disbursements are payments which are first met by the Administrator and then reimbursed to the Administrator from the Administration. Expenses are divided into those that do not need approval before they are charged to the Administration (Category 1 Expenses) and those that do (Category 2 Expenses).

Category 1 Expenses are payments to persons providing the service to which the expense relates who are not an associate of the Administrator.

Category 2 Expenses are payments to associates or which have an element of shared costs and require approval from creditors in the same manner as the Administrator's remuneration, whether paid directly from the estate or as a disbursement.



The Joint Administrators have prepared an estimate of the expenses likely to be incurred during the Administration and these total £261,061, as detailed at Appendix 7.

This illustrates the estimated expenses for the whole of the Administration and is for information purposes only. This estimate may change over the course of the Administration, but creditors will be informed of any variations with associated reasons in future progress reports.

During the Reporting Period, the Joint Administrators have incurred Category 1 Expenses of £23,085 of which £15,066 has been paid.

During the same period, the Joint Administrators have incurred Category 2 Expenses of £14,500 of which none have been paid to date.

A breakdown of the Joint Administrators' Category 1 and Category 2 Expenses incurred and paid in the Reporting Period are detailed at Appendix 4.

In the event that there are insufficient asset realisations in the Insolvency Estate, the Joint Administrators will also be seeking Court approval to the drawing of these costs and expenses from the Trust Estate.

### 9. Dividend Prospects

### 9.1 Secured Creditor

According to the records maintained at Companies House, the Company granted a debenture in favour of Barclays dated 10 March 2021 which confers fixed and floating charges over all the assets of the Company.

The debenture was created following a restructure of the CBILS loan which was subsequently granted to the Company on 1 April 2021.

The Joint Administrators have received a claim from Barclays of £301,334 in respect of the principal amount of the CBILS loan being £300,000, accrued interest totalling £962 and unauthorised overdraft charges of £372.

The Joint Administrators are currently reviewing the circumstances relating to the loan and the use of those monies.

A further update will be provided in the Joint Administrators' first Progress Report to creditors.

### 9.2 Preferential Creditors

The Preferential Creditors consist of employee claims for arrears of pay and holiday pay, the majority of which are likely to be subrogated to the BEIS following payment to the employees by the RPS and secondary preferential claims from HMRC which include claims for VAT, PAYE income tax and employee NIC.



~ 19 ~

Secondary preferential claims are paid after the other preferential claims are settled in full.

Creditors should note that two former employees of the Company resigned prior to the appointment of the Joint Administrators. As at the Appointment Date, these two employees had arrears of wages for the entirety of March 2022 and as such, have submitted a claim to the RPS in respect of their arrears of wages and unpaid holiday pay.

The Joint Administrators are yet to receive a claim from the RPS but expect this to be received in due course.

According to the Company's books and records, the total indebtedness to HMRC totals circa £95,000. This is in relation to unpaid VAT and PAYE and as such, will rank as a secondary preferential claim behind the employee claims.

The Joint Administrators are yet to receive any claim from HMRC to date.

On current information, it is considered likely that there will be insufficient asset realisations in the Insolvency Estate to enable a dividend to be paid to Preferential Creditors; however, investigations are ongoing.

### 9.3 Prescribed Part

The Prescribed Part is calculated as a percentage of net property, as follows:-

Net property less than £10,000: 50% unless the Joint Administrator considers that

the costs of making a distribution to the unsecured creditors would be disproportionate to the benefits.

Net property greater than £10,000: 50% up to £10,000 plus 20% thereafter to a

maximum of £800,000.

The Company granted a floating charge to Barclays on 10 March 2021 and therefore, the Prescribed Part provisions will apply.

On current information, It is considered unlikely that there will be sufficient asset realisations in the Insolvency Estate to enable a dividend to be paid to non-preferential Unsecured Creditors via the Prescribed Part; however, investigations are ongoing.



### 9.4 Unsecured Creditors

According to the Company's records, non-preferential Unsecured Creditors can be summarised as follows:

Creditor Category	£
HMRC	Unknown
Trade and Expense Creditors	56,058
Employees (unsecured element)	TBC
Other Creditors	Unknown
Total	TBC

Whilst it is possible that Clients may assert to have unsecured creditor claims against the Company, at present it is not possible to establish whether such claims exist at this time.

On current information, it is considered unlikely that there will be sufficient asset realisations in the Insolvency Estate to enable a dividend to be paid to non-preferential Unsecured Creditors. It should however be noted that the Joint Administrators are continuing their investigations.

A further update will be provided to creditors in the Joint Administrators' first Progress Report to creditors.

### 10. End of Administration

### 10.1 Exit from Administration

The options available to the Joint Administrators for the exit from the Administration are as follows:

- Compulsory Liquidation
- Creditors' Voluntary Liquidation (CVL)
- Company Voluntary Arrangement
- Return of Control to the Director
- Dissolution of the Company

You will note from the Proposals at Section 11 below that the Joint Administrators have left the choice of exit route from Administration open so that the most appropriate route may be pursued.

This will largely depend on whether there may be sufficient funds available to enable a distribution to unsecured creditors and whether this is done via the Prescribed Part or not. Should this be the case, a CVL would likely be pursued or an extension of the Administration for that purpose, or alternatively if there are not sufficient funds available then the most appropriate exit route may be dissolution.

### 10.2 Discharge of Liability

The Joint Administrators propose to seek approval from the Court and / or to the extent necessary any Creditors' Committee or creditors generally that they will be discharged from liability in respect of any



~ 21 ~

actions as Joint Administrators upon filing their final Receipts and Payments Account with the Registrar of Companies or their appointment otherwise ceasing.

Discharge does not prevent the exercise of the Court's power in relation to any misfeasance action against the Joint Administrators.

### 11. Joint Administrators' Proposals

### 11.1 Approval of Proposals

The Joint Administrators are seeking approval to this Statement of Proposals by deemed consent.

A notice of seeking a decision by deemed consent is attached at Appendix 15.

The Joint Administrators will seek approval of resolutions found at sections 11.4.4 to 11.4.5 from the Creditors' Committee (or creditors generally if a Creditors' Committee is not constituted) in due course.

### Quantification of Client Creditor Claims for Proposals' Purposes

The Joint Administrators will accept, for the purposes of the process for approval of these Proposals and establishment of a Creditors' Committee, that Clients are contingent creditors of the Company.

The Joint Administrators recognise that Clients will not possess sufficient information to be in a position to quantify what, if any, loss they believe they may suffer; and even more so, what amount of that loss, if any, may qualify as an unsecured claim against the Company.

Accordingly, the Joint Administrators consider that the most appropriate approach for present purposes (and without making any admissions that Clients will have claims of this or any value against the Company for future distribution purposes) is to allow all Clients to carry a provisional claim calculated as:

- a sum equal to 1% of the net funds invested into the Trust as at the date of the Joint Administrators' appointment; and
- where the Trust holds property, £2,750 (for each property) being approximately 1% of the value of an average property in the UK.

It is important to note that should Clients wish to either object to the approval of the Joint Administrators' Proposals or nominate themselves or a representative to participate in the formation of a Creditors' Committee, upon receipt of the completed forms (found in the Appendices of this report); the value of each Clients' claim for this purpose will be determined by the Joint Administrators (in their sole discretion) utilising the latest information available to them. This is likely to include information received as part of the ongoing Client account reconciliation exercise.

In taking the approach above, the Joint Administrators wish to make clear that:

- (a) the 1% does not represent the value of any loss which may eventually be incurred by each Client, which will be dependent upon a number of variables;
- (b) no representation is being made by the Joint Administrators about the past, current, or future value of assets held in Trust: and



(c) there is no suggestion that any Client will have an unsecured claim against the Company in any amount.

### **Quantification of Trust Client Claims for Distribution Purposes**

As stated, please note that the Joint Administrators will not address adjudication of proofs of debt for distribution purposes until or unless it appears that there will be a distribution available to non-preferential Unsecured Creditors of the Company from the Insolvency Estate.

### 11.2 Creditors' Committee

### 11.2.1 Invitation to Form a Creditors' Committee

In accordance with Rule 3.38(4) of the Rules, the Joint Administrators are required to invite nominations for membership of a Creditors' Committee any time they seek a decision from creditors (if a Creditors' Committee has not already been formed), such as the decisions sought at Section 11.1.

As noted above, for this purpose, Clients will be considered contingent creditors, thereby enabling them to nominate a representative for the membership of the Creditors' Committee.

It is not mandatory for Clients to nominate themselves or a representative for membership of a Creditors' Committee and it will not impact Clients or creditors' right to claim in the Administration if they are not a member of the Creditors' Committee.

The Joint Administrators are currently seeking nominations for creditors who wish to participate. At Appendix 13 and 14 are:

- Notice of Invitation to Form a Creditors' Committee ("Notice of Committee"); and
- Nomination for Membership of the Creditors' Committee and Consent to Act Form ("Nomination Form").

If you wish to nominate a representative to become a member of the Creditors' Committee, please complete the Nomination Form at Appendix 13 and return the completed Nomination Form to the Joint Administrators as instructed in the Notice of Committee by 30 June 2022.

### 11.2.2 Formation of a Creditors' Committee

Following the passing of the deadline stated above, the Joint Administrators will collate a list of those creditors who have nominated a representative for membership of the Creditors' Committee.

If the Joint Administrators receive considerably more nominations than the permitted maximum of five Creditors' Committee members, we will communicate with those nominated with a view to attempting to reduce the number and/or identify a shortlist of nominees.

The Joint Administrators will be aiming for the establishment of a Creditors' Committee which is representative and balances the interests of creditors and Clients. The Joint Administrators will also be



~ 23 ~

considering the relevant experience of nominees to assess their ability to assist the Joint Administrators in discharging their duties.

Therefore, when speaking to nominees, as well as establishing the amounts owed to nominees and their eligibility to act, the Joint Administrators will also be seeking details of the experience of nominees and what they believe they may be able to contribute to Creditors' Committee.

The Joint Administrators may also ask the nominees to produce, by a certain date, a short statement for circulation to creditors describing why they wish to be a member of the Creditors' Committee and the reasons why creditors might wish to vote for them.

If there are more nominations than can form the Creditors' Committee after the abovementioned process, it is likely the Joint Administrators will provide all creditors with the shortlist of nominees (via the Portal: <a href="www.ips-docs.com">www.ips-docs.com</a> (see earlier communications regarding how to access same)) together with a copy of the short statement describing why they wish to be a member of the Creditors' Committee and the reasons why creditors might wish to vote for them.

The Joint Administrators will then likely ask all creditors and Clients to vote upon those they wish to make up the Creditors' Committee. Again, the Joint Administrators will utilise the methodology referred to in Section 11.1 above for determining Clients' provisional claims to be used for voting purposes in this regard.

If however there are sufficient nominations without the need to conduct a further vote, a Creditors' Committee will be formed.

### 11.2.3 Role of a Creditors' Committee

A Creditors' Committee represents the interest of the creditors as a whole, rather than the interests of individual creditors.

The main function of the Creditors' Committee is to assist the Joint Administrators in discharging their duties in respect of the Insolvency Estate. This may include assisting the Joint Administrators in key decisions, representing the main body of unsecured creditors, or providing information relating to the Company, its business, and affairs.

The Creditors' Committee will also be responsible for approval of the following:

- The basis of the Joint Administrators' remuneration out of the Insolvency Estate;
- The payment of Category 2 Expenses out of the Insolvency Estate;
- The payment of unpaid pre-Administration costs out of the Insolvency Estate; and
- The discharge from liability of any actions taken as Joint Administrators.

The minimum number of committee members is three and the maximum is five.

In order to enable creditors to make an informed decision, a guidance note on the rights, duties and the functions of the Committee entitled 'A Guide for Creditors – March 2017' can also be found at the



following link: <a href="https://www.kroll.com/-/media/assets/pdfs-international/uk/creditors-guide/a-guide-for-creditors-march-2017.ashx?la=en-gb&hash=33FCA">https://www.kroll.com/-/media/assets/pdfs-international/uk/creditors-guide/a-guide-for-creditors-march-2017.ashx?la=en-gb&hash=33FCA</a>
F379D2B3977216E2D41DB2FFC2F762522E1

### 11.2.4 Eligibility of a Member

A creditor is eligible to be a member of the Creditors' Committee if:

- the person has proved for the debt;
- the debt is not fully secured; and
- neither of the following apply (i) the proof has been wholly disallowed for voting purposes; or (ii) the proof has been wholly rejected for the purpose of distribution or dividend.

As discussed above, the Joint Administrators will allow nominations from both Unsecured Creditors and Clients to become members of the Creditors' Committee.

### 11.2.5 Establishment of the Creditors' Committee

The Creditors' Committee is not established (and accordingly cannot act) until the membership of the Creditors' Committee has been established and the Joint Administrators have delivered notice of the membership to the Registrar of Companies.

### 11.3 Statement of Creditors' Rights

Creditors who meet one of the thresholds set out in the Insolvency Act 1986 may, within five business days from the date of delivery of this notice, require a physical meeting to be held to consider the proposed decisions. The statutory thresholds for requesting a meeting are 10% in value of creditors, 10% in number of creditors, or 10 creditors.

If creditors fulfil the requirements set out above, the deemed consent procedure will terminate without any decisions being made.

Further information on creditors' rights to request a decision or physical meeting and the relevant procedures required is provided at Appendix 9.

In addition, the statement also sets out information on the remuneration and expenses of the Joint Administrators

### 11.4 Summary of Proposals

In addition to the specific itemised proposals detailed below, this document in its entirety constitutes the Joint Administrators' Proposals.

The Joint Administrators propose the following:



### 11.4.1 General

- To continue to deal with such outstanding matters in relation to the Company as the Joint
   Administrators consider necessary until such time as the Administration ceases to have effect;
- To do all such other things and generally exercise all of their powers as contained in Schedule 1
  of the Act, as they, in their sole and absolute discretion, consider desirable or expedient in order
  to achieve the purpose of the Administration;
- To investigate and, if appropriate, pursue any claims the Company may have for the benefit of the Company's creditors;
- Seek an extension to the Administration period if considered necessary; and
- Enable the Company to continue to act as Trustee of the Trusts under the supervision of the Joint Administrators.

### 11.4.2 Distributions

- To make distributions to the Secured and Preferential Creditors where funds allow;
- To make distributions to the Unsecured Creditors from the Prescribed Part, where applicable; and
- To make further distributions to the Unsecured Creditors over and above the Prescribed Part, if funds become available and apply to Court for authority to do so, where applicable.

### 11.4.3 End of Administration

That the Joint Administrators might use any or a combination of the following exit route strategies to bring the Administration to an end:

- Apply to Court for the Administration order to cease to have effect from a specified time and for the return of control to the Director;
- Place the Company into Creditors' Voluntary Liquidation if deemed appropriate. It is proposed
  that the Joint Administrators, currently Geoffrey Bouchier and James Saunders of Kroll would act
  as Joint Liquidators should the Company be placed into Creditors' Voluntary Liquidation. The
  creditors may nominate a different person as the proposed Liquidator, provided the nomination is
  received at this office prior to the approval of these Proposals. Any action required or authorised
  under any enactment to be done by the Joint Liquidators is to be done by all or any one or more
  of them;
- Petition to the Court for a winding-up order placing the Company into Compulsory Liquidation if deemed appropriate. It is proposed that the Joint Administrators, currently Geoffrey Bouchier and James Saunders of Kroll would act as Joint Liquidators should the Company be placed into Compulsory Liquidation without further recourse to creditors. Any action required or authorised



under any enactment to be done by the Joint Liquidators is to be done by all or any one or more of them;

• Take the necessary steps to give notice of move from Administration to dissolution with the Registrar of Companies because (1) the Company has no remaining property which might permit a distribution to its creditors, and (2) all outstanding matters have been satisfactorily completed.

Alternatively, the Joint Administrators may allow the Administration to end automatically.

The Joint Administrators will be seeking specific agreement to the following resolutions that do not form part of the Proposals, from the Creditors' Committee (or creditors generally in the event that a Creditors' Committee is not duly constituted) in due course.

### 11.4.4 Remuneration and pre-Administration Costs

- That the Joint Administrators' remuneration in connection with the Insolvency Estate be fixed by reference to the time properly given by them and their staff in attending to matters arising in the Administration:
- That the Joint Administrators' Fee Estimate provided in Appendix 5 in the total sum of £770,735, is approved;
- That the Joint Administrators be authorised to pay the following expenses to associates in dealing with the Administration ("Category 2 Expenses"):
  - Mileage allowance payments to staff at the rate of 45p per mile
  - Travel, accommodation, and subsistence payments for staff
- That the unpaid Pre-Administration costs totalling £266,315 plus VAT as detailed in the Joint Administrators' Statement of Pre-Administration costs and fees is approved for payment as an expense of the Administration.
- Where a Creditors' Committee is formed, the Joint Administrators' will seek to obtain approval from the Creditors' Committee.

### 11.4.5 Discharge of Liability

- That the Joint Administrators be discharged from all liability in respect of any actions as Joint Administrators upon filing their final Receipts and Payments Account with the Registrar of Companies or their appointment otherwise ceasing.
- Where a Creditors' Committee is formed, the Joint Administrator's will seek to obtain approval from the Creditors' Committee.



~ 27 ~

If you require further information or assistance, please do not hesitate to contact the Joint Administrators at <a href="https://process.org/lease-10.26">PTC@kroll.com</a>.

Yours faithfully For and on behalf of Philips Trust Corporation Limited



**Geoffrey Bouchier**Joint Administrator

The affairs, business and property of the Company are being managed by the Joint Administrators, Geoffrey Bouchier and James Saunders, who act as agents for the Company and without personal liability. Both are licensed by the Insolvency Practitioners Association.



### Appendix 1 – Statutory Information

**Application of EC Regulations** 

Company Information		
Company and Trading Name	Philips Trust Corporation L	imited
Date of Incorporation	6 December 2017	
Registered Number	11099933	
Company Director	Kay Collins	
Company Secretary	N/A	
Shareholder	After Today Limited - 1009	%
Trading Address  Registered Office	Suite B  11th Floor 5 Exchange Quay Salford M5 3EF Current: c/o Kroll Advisory Ltd. The Chancery 58 Spring Gardens	Former: Suite B 11th Floor 5 Exchange Quay
	Manchester M2 1EW	Salford M5 3EF
Administration Information		
Administration Appointment	Justice, Business and Prope	tment granted in High Court of erty Courts of England and Wales, List (Chd), Companies Court
Appointor	Court Order	
Appointment Date	22 April 2022	
Joint Administrators	Geoffrey Bouchier and Jam	es Saunders
Original Purpose	=	or the Company's creditors as a if the company were wound up iinistration)
Functions	The functions of the Joint A by them individually or togo Paragraph 100(2) of Scheo	
<b>Current Administration Expiry Date</b>	21 April 2023	
Prescribed Part	The Prescribed Part is appl	licable in this case



EC Regulations apply and these proceedings will be the Main Proceedings as defined in Article 3 of the EC Regulations.

Appendix 2 – Joint Administrators' Receipts and Payments Accounts



### **Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration)**

Joint Administrators' Receipts and Payment Account for the Trust Estate for the Reporting Period

For the Reporting Period 22 April 2022 to 15 June 2022 (£)

Receipts

 Client Funds (Cash at Bank)
 127,554.37

 Investment Income : CX Wealth
 176,883.92

 304,438.29

**Payments** 

Funds Transfer to Philips Trust Corporation Limited - Insolvency Estate (34,144.77)

(34,144.77)

Net Receipts / (Payments) 270,293.52

**Trust Account** 

Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration) Clients' Account 270,293.52

Total 270,293.52



### Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration)

Joint Administrators' Receipts and Payment Account for the Insolvency Estate for the Reporting Period

SOA, Estimate to Realise		For the Reporting Period 22 April 2022 to 15 June 2022
(£)		(£)
	Asset Realisations / Receipts	
	Funds Transfer from Philips Trust Corporation Limited - Trust Estate	34,144.77
_		34,144.77
	Insurance	(523.02)
	IT Costs	(1,143.25)
	Mail re-direction	(519.00)
	Stationary and Postage	(798.90)
	Statutory Advertising	(103.50)
	Wages and Salary Expenses	(30,544.17)
-		(33,631.84)
	Net Receipts / (Payments)	512.93
	Represented By	
	VAT Receivable	512.93
	Joint Administrators' Floating Charge Bank Account	
	Total	512.93



~ 32 ~

### Appendix 3 – Schedule of Creditors and Estimated Financial Position

The Joint Administrators have requested that the Director provides a SOA. To date this has not been received.

Once received the SOA will be filed with the Registrar of Companies. Please note that disclosure of the content of the SOA may be restricted with the Court's permission if it is considered that disclosure would be adverse to the interest of creditors.

In the absence of a SOA, the Joint Administrators attach a schedule detailing the currently known details of the Company's estimated financial position including a schedule of known creditors names and addresses.

The information has been extracted from the Company's books and records and relates to the Insolvency Estate only. The Joint Administrators have not carried out any audit or detailed verification work on the information provided and the figures do not include the costs of the Administration.

The actual level of asset recoveries and claims against the Company might differ materially from the amounts included in the financial information in this statement.



## Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration) Estimated Financial Position as at 22 April 2022

	Notes	Book Value (£)	Estimated to Realise (£)
Assets Subject to Fixed Charge		( - 7	(7)
Goodwill		0	Uncertain
Leasehold Property		0	Uncertain
Less: Barclays Bank Plc	1	(300,000)	(300,000)
Surplus/Deficiency as regards fixed charge holder			(300,000)
Assets Subject to Floating Charge			
Accrued Income not yet Invoiced	2	Nil	Uncertain
Book Debts	3	402,430	Uncertain
Office Equipment, Fixtures and Fittings			Uncertain
Directors' Loan Accounts			Uncertain
Estimated total assets available for preferential creditors			(300,000)
Primary Preferential Creditors		Nil	(1,600)
Secondary Preferential Creditors		(96,000)	Unknown
Net propety available for Prescribed Part			NIL
Estimated total assets available for floating charge holders			(301,600)
Less: Barclays Bank Plc	1	(300,000)	(300,000)
Estimated deficiency of assets after floating charges			(361,600)
Add back Presribed Part			N/A
Available for Unsecured Creditors			N/A
Unsecured Creditors Trade Creditors	4	(56,058)	Uncertain
Other Trade Creditors	•	(30,030)	Uncertain
Directors' Loan Accounts			Uncertain
HMRC			Uncertain
Esimated deficiency as regards Unsecured Creditors			Uncertain

### **Notes**

- 1 The Company granted a debenture in favour of Barclays Bank which confers fixed and floating charges over all of the assets of the Company.
- 2 The Company was contractually entitled to draw fees in respect of matters such as, but not limited to, revenue accruing over the life of the Trusts in the form of Annual Management Charges and the sale of properties held on Trust by the Company on behalf of its beneficiaries. The Joint Administrators are continuing, as part of the ongoing reconciliation, to establish the level of fees due to the Company that has not yet been invoiced.
- 3 The Company records indicate that c£402,430 is due to the Company however, due to the quality of the Company's books and records, the veracity of this amount is unknown. In light of this the Joint Administrators consider that the quantum of fees due to the Company, whether invoiced or otherwise, remains uncertain and as such the Joint Administrators continue to work to ascertain the value of funds due to the Company
- 4 The value of the Trade Creditors has been taken from a schedule available from the Company's books and records. The figures provided do not affect creditors' rights to submit a claim for a different amount.



# Philips Trust Corporation Limited - Creditors Listing

Name	Address 1	Address 2	Address 3	Address 4	Address 5
Awareness Software Limited	Unit B5 Rhino Court	Station View	Stockport	SK7 5ER	
CBRE	Asset Services	Pacific House	70 Wellington St	Glasgow	G2 6UA
Champion Accountants	I Worsley Court	High St	Worsley	M28 3NJ	
DRA Conveyancing Ltd	138 Huddersfield Road	Mirfield	WF14 8AN		
Dains LLP	Etruria Office Village		2 Forge Ln	Stoke-on-Trent	ST1 5RQ
FP Mailing	Suite 105-107 Lovell House	Birchwood Park	WA3 6FW		
HM Revenue & Customs	Enforcement & Insolvency Service (EIS)	Durrington Bridge House	Worthing	West Sussex	BN12 4SE
HM Revenue and Customs (PAYE)	Accounts Office Cumbernauld	ST Mungo's Rd	Cumbernauld	Glasgow	G67 1YZ
HM Revenue and Customs (CT)	Mid-Size Businesses	Corporation Tax Services	HM Revenue and Customs	BX9 1AX	
HM Revenue and Customs (VAT)	Alexander House	21 Victoria Avenue	Southend-on-Sea	SS99 1BF	
Home2Office Water	Unit 3B	Arbour Court	Knowsley Ind. Park	Knowsley	L33 7XE
Minshred	96 Manor Road	Haughton Green	M34 7SN		
Octopus	Unit 10 Enterprise Centre 2	Stockport	SK3 0BR		
Parity Legal	Parity House	19a Church St	Oadby	Leicester	LE2 5DB
Peninsula	Victoria Place	Manchester	M4 4FB		
Redundancy Payments Service	P O Box 16685		BIRMINGHAM		B2 2LX
Reginald Boagey Statham	4 Lingfield Drive	Eaglescliffe	Stockton	TS16 0NX	
Slater Heelis	86 Deansgate	Manchester	M3 2ER		
TD Software Services Limited	49 Greensward Lane		Hockley		SS5 5HG
Telcom	Hilton House	Hilton St	Manchester	M1 2EH	
The Talent Crowd	ABC Building	21-23 Quay Street	Manchester	M3 4AE	
Total Energies	Bridge Gate	55-57 High St	Redhill	Surrey	RH1 1RX
Waterlogic	1 Grenfell Road	Maidenhead	Berkshire	SL6 1HN	
Wolters Kluwer	145 London Road	Kingston Upon Thames	KT2 6SR		
Stockton on Tees Borough Council	Municipal Buildings		Church Road	Stockton-on-Tees	TS18 1LD
Sure Will Writer	The Society of Will Writers	Chancery House	Whisby Way	Lincoln	LN6 3LQ



~ 35 ~

# Appendix 4 – Analysis of Time Charged Incurred for the Insolvency Estate

Analysis of the Joint Administrators' pre-Appointment Time Costs

# **Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration)**

Analysis of the Joint Administrators' Pre-Appointment Time Costs

	Hours					Time Avg Hourly	
	Managing Director	Manager	Senior	Analyst	Total Hours	Cost (£)	Rate (£)
Case Specific Matters							
Business Background Analysis & Research	18.00	10.00	0.00	12.60	40.60	23,419.50	576.83
Correspondence With Company Re Engagement	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.50	222.50	445.00
General Case Administration	0.00	0.50	0.00	3.50	4.00	1,202.50	300.63
Meetings With / Reporting To The Company	23.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	23.00	17,217.00	748.57
Research Re Engagement Business / Industry	0.00	8.00	0.00	2.50	10.50	6,020.00	573.33
Review / Analysis Of Financial Info	28.10	0.00	0.00	0.00	28.10	21,075.00	750.00
Strategy Planning	87.80	100.35	0.50	23.60	212.25	132,736.75	625.38
Writing Report / Output To Engaging Party	0.00	14.00	0.00	0.80	14.80	9,534.00	644.19
Total Hours:	156.90	133.35	0.50	43.00	333.75		633.49
Total Time Costs: (£)	116.019.50	83.177.75	190.00	12,040.00		211.427.25	



# Analysis of the Joint Administrators' Time Costs to 12 June 2022

# **Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration)**

Analysis of the Joint Administrators' time costs for the Insolvency Estate

	Hours				Time	Avg	
	Managing Director	Manager	Senior	Analyst	Total Hours	Cost (£)	Hourly Rate (£)
Administration and Planning							
Case Review & Case Diary Management	0.00	0.90	3.35	0.40	4.65	1,829.50	393.44
Cashiering & Accounting	0.00	2.90	0.65	7.65	11.20	4,139.50	369.60
Dealings with Directors & Management	1.40	3.55	3.50	4.45	12.90	5,846.75	453.24
Insurance	0.00	0.00	1.80	0.10	1.90	712.00	374.74
IPS Set Up & Maintenance	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.00	0.25	95.00	380.00
Statement of Affairs	0.00	0.40	0.00	0.00	0.40	266.00	665.00
Statutory Matters	0.00	10.40	8.35	17.40	36.15	12,871.00	356.04
Strategy Planning & Control	13.10	54.50	22.35	77.00	166.95	63,906.00	382.79
Tax Compliance & Planning	0.00	0.00	0.45	0.00	0.45	171.00	380.00
Creditors							
Dealings with Creditors & Employees	0.20	9.55	1.60	3.30	14.65	7,894.75	538.89
Non-Pref Creditors / Employee Claims Handling	0.00	0.00	0.35	5.45	5.80	1,659.00	286.03
Secured Creditors	1.50	0.40	0.00	0.00	1.90	1,308.50	688.68
Investigations							
CDDA & Reports & Communication	0.00	1.80	0.00	0.00	1.80	1,197.00	665.00
Financial Review & Investigations (S238/239 etc)	4.10	3.90	5.70	5.30	19.00	8,565.00	450.79
Realisation of Assets							
Freehold & Leasehold Property	0.00	1.90	0.00	0.00	1.90	1,263.50	665.00
Hire Purchase & Lease Assets	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	665.00	665.00
Trading							
Employees	0.80	2.30	0.00	3.35	6.45	3,045.50	472.17
Operations	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.70	2.70	756.00	280.00
Discussions with Suppliers & Landlord	0.00	0.00	8.80	3.00	11.80	4,184.00	354.58
Total Hours:	21.10	93.50	57.15	130.10	301.85		398.79
Total Time Costs: (£)	14,686.50	50,759.50	21,717.00	33,212.00		120,375.00	



# Narrative of work carried out for the period to 12 June 2022

The key areas of work have been:

SIP 9 Narrative for the period t	o 12 June 2022
Administration and Planning	<ul> <li>Monitoring and reviewing the Administration strategy;</li> <li>Briefing staff on the Administration strategy and matters in relation to workstreams;</li> <li>Regular case management and reviewing of process including regular team update meetings and calls;</li> <li>Meeting with management to review and update strategy and monitor progress;</li> <li>Reviewing and authorising junior staff correspondence and other work;</li> <li>Dealing with queries arising during the appointment;</li> <li>Reviewing matters affecting the outcome of the Administration;</li> <li>Allocating and managing staff/ case resourcing and budgeting exercises and reviews;</li> <li>Liaising with legal advisors regarding various instructions, including agreeing content of engagement letters; and</li> <li>Complying with internal filing and information recording practices, including documenting strategy decisions.</li> </ul>
Creditors	<ul> <li>Updating the list of Unsecured Creditors;</li> <li>Responding to enquiries from creditors regarding the Administration and submission of their claims;</li> <li>Reviewing completed forms submitted by creditors, recording claim amounts, and maintaining claim records;</li> <li>Providing written and oral updates to the Secured Lenders regarding the progress of the Administration and cases strategy; and</li> <li>Filing notice of the extension of the Administration.</li> </ul>
Investigations	<ul> <li>Managing and reviewing the Company books and records;</li> <li>Investigating the affairs of the Company to identify any actions available to the company against third parties in respect of antecedent transactions or other litigation;</li> <li>Obtaining records from third parties;</li> <li>Conducting interviews with counterparties and officeholders;</li> <li>Enquiring with counterparties who has raised disputes against the Company;</li> <li>Reviewing pre-appointment transactions; and</li> <li>Documenting investigations.</li> </ul>



~ 38 ~

Statutory and Compliance	Ensuring compliance with all statutory obligations within the
Statutory and Compilance	relevant timescales;
	<ul> <li>Uploading information to the Portal/Company Website;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Drafting and publishing Statement of Proposals;</li> </ul>
	Running decision procedures;
	Reviewing time costs to date and producing analysis of time
	incurred which is compliant with SIP 9;
	Monitoring the fees estimate; and     Monitoring the symples estimate.
	Monitoring the expenses estimate.
Cashiering	Preparing statutory Receipts and Payments Accounts; and
	Renewing bonding and complying with statutory
	requirements;
Asset Realisations	Collating information from the Company's records regarding
	assets;
	Liaising with finance companies in respect of assets subject
	to finance agreements;  • Liaising with key suppliers;
	<ul> <li>Liaising with key suppliers;</li> <li>Reviewing outstanding debtors and management of debt</li> </ul>
	collection strategy;
	Communicating with landlords regarding rent; property
	occupation and other property issues;
	<ul> <li>Liaising with third parties regarding costs incurred;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Reviewing and agreeing invoices;</li> </ul>
	Reviewing costs incurred to ensure recorded accurately; and
	Arranging payments to agents and key suppliers in a timely
	manner.
Trading	Attending to supplier and Client queries and
	correspondence;
	<ul> <li>Reviewing invoices to ensure they correspond with the relevant purchase orders;</li> </ul>
	Raising payments to suppliers in respect of Administration
	costs; and
	Contacting all suppliers to obtain invoices for the trading
	period.
Tax	Working on tax returns relating to the periods affected by
	the Administrator;
	Analysing VAT related transactions; reviewing the
	Company's duty position to ensure compliance with duty
	requirements; and
	<ul> <li>Dealing with post appointment tax compliance.</li> </ul>



# Joint Administrators' Expenses to 12 June 2022

The Joint Administrators have incurred the following expenses during the Administration Period.

Category 1 Expenses			Curre	nt period
Company	Activity	Fee Basis	Incurred (£)	Paid (£)
Royal Mail Group Ltd	Re-direction of Mail	Fixed fee	519	519
Courts Advertising Ltd	Statutory Advertising	Fixed fee	104	104
Glaisyers	Legal advice on trusts and the Administration	Time costs	7,794	0
Guildhall Chambers	Counsel advising upon Court Application	Time costs	0	0
Dains Accountants	Forensic Accounting	Time costs	13,920	13,920
Aon	Statutory bond premium	Fixed fee	225	0
AUA Insolvency Risk Services	Asset insurance	Fixed fee	523	523
Total			23,085	15,066

Category 2 Expenses			Curre	nt period
Company	Activity	Fee Basis	Incurred (£)	Paid (£)
Kroll	Travel to and from site	Fixed fee	1,493	0
Kroll	Subsistence	Fixed Fee	322	0
Khadija	Litigation Support Fees	Time Costs	12,685	0
Total			14,500	0

# **Notes**

The above costs exclude VAT.

The Joint Administrators' choice of professional advisors was based on their perception of the experience and ability of the respective firms/individuals to perform their work, the complexity and nature of the assignment and the basis of their fee.

Kroll, being the employer of the Joint Administrators and the staff working on the Administration, is considered an associate of the Joint Administrators.

It is considered that these expenses are fair and reasonable and proportionate to the Administration.

The Joint Administrators have the authority to pay Category 1 Expenses without the need for any prior approval from the creditors of the Company.

Category 2 Expenses are to be approved in the same manner as the Joint Administrators' remuneration.



# Appendix 5 – Fee Estimate for the Insolvency Estate

# Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration)

The Joint Administrators' Fee Estimate for the Administration

			Hours			Total	Time	Avg Hourly
	Managing Director	Manager	Senior	Analyst	Support	Hours	Cost (£)	Rate (£)
Administration and Planning								
Case Review & Case Diary Management	10.00	25.00	5.00	40.00	0.00	80.00	32,950.00	411.88
Cashiering & Accounting	30.00	35.00	1.00	55.00	0.00	121.00	50,730.00	419.26
Dealings with Directors & Management	0.00	40.00	5.00	0.00	0.00	45.00	28,500.00	633.33
Insurance	0.00	5.00	2.00	10.00	0.00	17.00	5,885.00	346.18
IPS Set Up & Maintenance	0.00	0.00	1.00	10.00	0.00	11.00	2,100.00	190.91
Statement of Affairs	2.00	2.00	0.00	5.00	0.00	9.00	3,695.00	410.56
Statutory Matters	20.00	20.00	10.00	40.00	0.00	90.00	38,750.00	430.56
Strategy Planning & Control	100.00	300.00	25.00	25.00	0.00	450.00	264,250.00	587.22
Tax Compliance & Planning	3.00	10.00	1.00	15.00	0.00	29.00	10,615.00	366.03
Creditors								
Dealings with Creditors & Employees	5.00	15.00	2.00	100.00	0.00	122.00	34,210.00	280.41
Non-Pref Creditors / Employee Claims Handling	0.00	5.00	1.00	35.00	0.00	41.00	10,305.00	251.34
Secured Creditors	2.00	3.00	0.00	5.00	0.00	10.00	4,305.00	430.50
Investigations								
CDDA & Reports & Communication	8.00	13.00	0.00	40.00	0.00	61.00	20,470.00	335.57
Financial Review & Investigations (S238/239 etc)	60.00	120.00	80.00	40.00	0.00	300.00	160,750.00	535.83
Realisation of Assets								
Freehold & Leasehold Property	2.00	10.00	0.00	5.00	0.00	17.00	6,760.00	397.65
Hire Purchase & Lease Assets	0.00	5.00	0.00	5.00	0.00	10.00	4,245.00	424.50
Company Income / Debtors	2.00	25.00	5.00	25.00	0.00	57.00	20,725.00	363.60
Trading								
Employees	4.00	40.00	0.00	20.00	0.00	64.00	28,745.00	449.14
Operations	0.00	40.00	0.00	20.00	0.00	60.00	25,800.00	430.00
Discussions with Suppliers & Landlord	0.00	25.00	10.00	5.00	0.00	40.00	16,945.00	423.63
Total Hours:	248.00	738.00	148.00	500.00		1,634.00		471.69
Total Time Cost: (£)	177,405.00	444,570.00	56,240.00	92,520.00			770,735.00	



# Appendix 6 – Fee Narrative for the Insolvency Estate

# **Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration)**

## The Joint Administrators' Fee Estimate for the whole period of the Administration

Geoffrey Bouchier and James Saunders were appointed Joint Administrators of the Company on 22 April 2022.

#### Introduction

The following information is provided to creditors to enable them to consider and approve the Joint Administrators' remuneration in relation to the Company. It is a summary of key issues, to assist creditors in understanding the strategy of the Joint Administrators, the associated costs, and expenses of the related activities, and the financial benefit to creditors.

This document should be read in conjunction with the Joint Administrators' Statement of Proposals, which provides further details of the assets, liabilities, progress to date and estimated return to creditors, if any. Particular reference is made to the Appendices entitled 'Fee Estimate', 'Estimated Expenses' and 'Analysis of the Joint Administrators' Time Costs'.

The Joint Administrators acknowledge that the Fee Estimate and therefore the supporting narrative is an estimate and is based on a number of assumptions, some of which will be accurate and some of which may differ from the eventual costs incurred. The Fee Estimate effectively acts on a cap as to the value of fees which the Joint Administrators are entitled to draw.

The Fee Estimate provides an estimate of the Joint Administrators' time costs in relation to their management of the business, assets affairs and of the Insolvency Estate.

Note that the Joint Administrators costs and expenses incurred in dealing with the Trust Estate is subject to separate Court approval and is excluded from this Fee Estimate.

To the extent that time costs detailed in this Fee Estimate cannot be met out of the Insolvency Estate, the Joint Administrators will also be seeking Court Approval to draw those costs from the Trust Estate.

# **Estimated Fees and Expenses**

It should be noted that in the Report to Court, the Joint Administrators anticipated their fees in relation to the Insolvency Estate to total £541,878 for the first 16 weeks of the Administration. At present the Joint Administrators do not expect their time costs to reach this level due to a number of factors:

Firstly, the Court confirmed to the Joint Administrators that in the first instance focus must be upon the Client Trusts and general statutory duties and obligations must be kept to a minimum pending further Court Hearings.

Secondly, there are certain critical path items and information requests to third parties which has resulted in less time being incurred in the initial period of the Administration.



~ 42 ~

The Joint Administrators now therefore estimate the fees in the Administration relating to the Insolvency Estate to total £770,735 as shown in the Fee Estimate at Appendix 5. This estimate may change over the course of the Administration, but creditors will be informed of any variations with associated reasons in subsequent progress reports.

# **Estimated Return to Creditors**

Please see Section 7 of the Proposals for further information in this regard.

#### Joint Administrators' Estimated Time Costs

#### Statutory Compliance, Planning, Formal Reporting and Case Administration

An Administrator is highly regulated, being required to conform to insolvency legislation, industry Best Practice policies (Statements of Insolvency Practice) and relevant case law. Consequently, Administrators are obliged to undertake many activities that do not provide a financial benefit to creditors. Such matters will include, but are not restricted to: Anti Money Laundering, Bribery Act and Ethical considerations and checks, statutory advertising, regular reporting to creditors including fee agreement procedures, obtaining, and securing company books and records, pension review and liaison with the Pension Protection Fund, Companies House filing, completion and release of insolvency bond and various Treasury functions.

The Joint Administrators have incurred £89,837 since the Appointment Date in respect of 'Administration and Planning', representing 235 hours at an average charge out rate of £383.

Total time, including future costs, are anticipated to be £437,475, which includes but is not limited to the following:

- Complying with Anti-Money Laundering Checks, Bribery Act and ethical checks;
- Monitoring and reviewing the Administration strategy;
- Setting up the Administration on our internal systems and on the Portal;
- Companies House and Court filings;
- Calculating and obtaining the Insolvency Practitioners' bond;
- Undertaking treasury functions in setting up the Administration;
- Internal strategic discussions and meetings and completing case reviews;
- Advertising the Joint Administrators' appointment and notifying relevant stakeholders;
- Opening Administration bank accounts and facilitating a transfer of funds to the Administration;
- Dealing with the interaction and co-ordination as between the Client Estate and the Insolvency Estate;
- Discussions with management and legal advisors following Administration Order;
- Completing internal compliance reviews and checklists;
- Preparing the Joint Administrators' Statement of Proposals and Progress Reports;
- Performing periodic and strategic case reviews;
- HMRC statutory notifications;
- Undertaking ongoing cashiering and accounting functions;



- Dealings with the directors and management;
- Ensuring that all insurance and bonding requirements are appropriate; and
- Internal strategic discussions and meetings.

#### **Creditors**

The Joint Administrators will incur time costs in dealing with creditor correspondence.

Total time incurred in relation to creditors total £10,862 representing 22 hours at an average charge out rate of £486. Work undertaken to date has included explaining the background to the Joint Administrators' appointment and the Company's financial difficulties and handling claims.

Total time, including future costs, are anticipated to be £48,820, which includes but is not limited to the following:

- Creditor correspondence, emails and telephone conversations regarding claims in the Administration:
- Maintaining up to date creditor information and claims status on the case management system;
- Maintaining the Portal;
- Adjudicating and agreeing creditor claims if there are sufficient funds to enable a distribution to be paid to creditors; and
- Reviewing and recording potential Client creditor claims.

# Investigations

It is a statutory requirement that the Joint Administrators provide reports to the Secretary of State on the conduct of the Director in their management of the Company to determine their unfitness to act in such roles. These reports will entail a broad level of investigation to ensure that best practice standards are met, and the Fee Estimate reflect this standard. If the Secretary of State then instigates Directors' Disqualification proceedings, further time may be expended in providing supporting documents, witness statements etc. Such investigations may or may not lead to further asset recoveries, so creditors should not assume that this activity will provide monetary benefit to the Administration estates.

Initial fact gathering will be undertaken by lower level staff but the nature of the investigations requires more experienced (and hence high cost) staff to review the information.

Total time incurred in relation to investigations totals £9,762, representing 21 hours at an average charge out rate of £469. This includes obtaining and reviewing the Company's books and records, writing to the Bank to request historic bank statements, and reviewing these statements.

Total time, including future costs, are anticipated to be £181,220, which includes but is not limited to the following tasks:

- Seeking the completion of a questionnaire by the Director;
- Completing a detailed bank statement analysis noting that there are 18 bank accounts that we are currently aware of;
- Investigation of any potential claims in respect of antecedent transactions;



- Investigation of the conduct of the current and former directors and officers of the Company;
- Completing a detailed review of all the Company's financial accounts available;
- Companies House searches;
- Logging and reviewing creditor complaints and concerns regarding director conduct; and
- Statutory investigations and reporting requirements to the Secretary of State in respect of directors' conduct and any resulting correspondence with the BEIS.

The Fee Estimate assumes a diligent but basic investigation into the Company's affairs. However, should circumstances prove more difficult it is likely that the Fee Estimate may need to increase. Creditors will be consulted as appropriate.

#### Realisation of Assets

The fundamental duty of an Administrator is that of the recovery and realisation of the Company's assets, the Joint Administrators' powers are designed to ensure the effective execution of this duty. The Joint Administrators must recover the assets of the Company for the benefit of the creditors and ultimately the members and must realise the same to affect the best possible distributions.

The Joint Administrators' actions and ongoing strategy in respect of the Company's assets is detailed below. The Joint Administrators have incurred £1,929 in relation to realisation of assets of the Company, representing 3 hours at an average charge out rate of £665. This includes reviewing the Company's records to understand what tangible and intangible assets are owned by the Company which may be of benefit to the Administration estate.

Total time, including future costs, are anticipated to be £31,730 which may include but is not limited to the following:

- Collating information from the Company's records regarding assets;
- Correspondence to the landlord regarding the Leasehold Premises and obtain details of rent deposit held;
- Liaise with legal advisors regarding the potential legal recovery in relation to future legal claims;
- Realising any other unencumbered tangible and intangible assets, where possible.



Appendix 7 – Expenses Estimate for the Insolvency Estate



# Philips Trust Coporation Limited (In Administration) Joint Administrators' Estimated Expenses for the Duration of the Administration

Company	Activity	Fee Basis		Anticipated Total Cost (£)
Expenses				
Category 1				
Courts Advertising	Statutory Advertising	Fixed Fee		103.50
AON	Bordereau Fee	Fixed Fee		225.00
Total Data Management	Storage Fee	As Incurred		500.00
Glaysiers Solicitors	Solicitors Fees & Expenses	As Incurred		150,000.00
Guildhall Chambers	Counsel	As Incurred		15,000.00
Dains Forensics LLP	Forensic Accountants Fees	Fixed Fee		60,000.00
Champion Accountants	Accountants Fees	Fixed Fee		10,000.00
AUA Insolvency Risk Services	Insurance	Fixed Fee		1,500.00
Yet to be engaged	Agents Fees	As Incurred		750.00
Royal Mail Group Ltd	Re-Direction of Mail	As Incurred		519.00
Spreckley Partners Limited	Public Relations	As Incurred		2,975.00
	Total Category 1 expenses		_	£241,572.50
Category 2				
Mileage @ 45p per mile				2,000.00
Travel & Subsistence costs				3,000.00
Khadija	Relativity			14,488.00
•	Total Category 2 expenses		-	£19,488.00
Total Estimated Expenses			TOTAL	£261,060.50
	Expenses Category 1 Courts Advertising AON Total Data Management Glaysiers Solicitors Guildhall Chambers Dains Forensics LLP Champion Accountants AUA Insolvency Risk Services Yet to be engaged Royal Mail Group Ltd Spreckley Partners Limited  Category 2 Mileage @ 45p per mile Travel & Subsistence costs	Expenses Category 1 Courts Advertising AON Total Data Management Glaysiers Solicitors Guildhall Chambers Dains Forensics LLP Champion Accountants AUA Insolvency Risk Services Yet to be engaged Royal Mail Group Ltd Spreckley Partners Limited  Category 2 Mileage @ 45p per mile Travel & Subsistence costs Khadija  Statutory Advertising Bordereau Fee Solicitors Fees & Expenses Counsel Forensic Accountants Fees Accountants Fees Insurance Agents Fees Re-Direction of Mail Public Relations Total Category 1 expenses	Expenses Category 1 Courts Advertising Statutory Advertising Fixed Fee AON Bordereau Fee Fixed Fee Total Data Management Storage Fee As Incurred Glaysiers Solicitors Solicitors Fees & Expenses As Incurred Guildhall Chambers Counsel As Incurred Dains Forensics LLP Forensic Accountants Fees Fixed Fee Champion Accountants Accountants Fees Fixed Fee AUA Insolvency Risk Services Insurance Fixed Fee Yet to be engaged Agents Fees As Incurred Royal Mail Group Ltd Re-Direction of Mail As Incurred Spreckley Partners Limited Public Relations As Incurred Total Category 1 expenses  Category 2 Mileage @ 45p per mile Travel & Subsistence costs Khadija Relativity Total Category 2 expenses	Expenses Category 1 Courts Advertising Statutory Advertising Fixed Fee AON Bordereau Fee Fixed Fee Glaysiers Solicitors Solicitors Fees & Expenses As Incurred Guildhall Chambers Counsel As Incurred Dains Forensics LLP Forensic Accountants Fees Fixed Fee Champion Accountants Accountants Fees Fixed Fee AUA Insolvency Risk Services Yet to be engaged Agents Fees As Incurred Royal Mail Group Ltd Re-Direction of Mail As Incurred Spreckley Partners Limited Public Relations As Incurred Total Category 1 expenses  Category 2 Mileage @ 45p per mile Travel & Subsistence costs Khadija Relativity Total Category 2 expenses

The above costs exclude VAT

# Notes to Expenses Schedule

- 1 Category 1 expenses are payments to persons providing the service to which the expense relates who are not an associate of the Administrator.
- 2 Statutory advertising in the London Gazette is required under insolvency legislation
- 3 The Joint Administrators are required to have sufficient insurance in place
- Books and records of the Company will be stored offsite with an external provider for at least the duration of the Administration plus one year. In addition, it is a statutory requirement that books and records of the Joint Administrators must be kept for six years after the conclusion of the Administration
- 5 Solicitors fees and expenses in relation to ad-hoc post-appointment legal advice provided throughout the duration of the Administration
- 6 Counsel fees and expenses in relation to any Court attendance
- 7 Forensic Accountants Fees incurred in respect of preparing a client ledger
- 8 Accountants Fees incurred in respect of general accountancy services provided pertaining to corpration tax compliance matters
- 9 Insurance costs for unsold assets
- 10 Valuation and Selling agents fees may be incurred should there be a requirement to value the assets of the Company
- 11 Redirection of mail was required to ensure that this was received to the Joint Administrators offices
- 12 Costs relating to media relations on behalf of the Joint Administrators
- Category 2 expenses are payments to associates or which have an element of shared costs and require approval from creditors in the same manner as the Administrator's remuneration, whether paid directly from the estate or as a disbursement.
- 14 Mileage is the reimbursement of staff expenses, at a specified rate, travelling by car to attend the Company's premises
- 15 Travel and subsistence costs are the reimbursement of staff expenses travelling by public transport to attend the Company's premises
- 16 Litigation Support Fees

The total anticipated expenses is an estimate based on information at the commencement of the appointment.

The estimate should therefore be treated with caution as matters are likely to change over the life of the Administration



# Appendix 8 – Analysis of Time Charged for the Trust Estate

# **Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration)**

Analysis of the Joint Administrators' time costs for the Trust Estate

	Hours				Time	Avg	
	Managing Director	Manager	Senior	Analyst	Total Hours	Cost (£)	Hourly Rate (£)
All Trusts							
Client Communications	12.20	44.50	4.90	28.75	90.35	41,240.50	456.45
Call Centre Dealings	0.00	23.00	0.00	20.20	43.20	17,141.00	396.78
Dealings with FCA	1.30	2.95	0.00	0.00	4.25	2,645.25	622.41
Trust Registration & Other Regulatory Matters	0.00	1.00	0.30	5.50	6.80	2,319.00	341.03
Trust Strategy, Planning & Control	39.60	54.45	6.30	6.75	107.10	68,312.25	637.84
Client Reconciliation / Verification	9.40	25.70	5.00	162.45	202.55	56,481.50	278.85
Future Court Application / Directions	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	750.00	750.00
Wet Trusts							
Client Communications	0.00	0.65	0.00	0.55	1.20	553.25	461.04
Dealings with FCA	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	750.00	750.00
Dealings with Investment Houses	6.30	42.50	0.00	0.00	48.80	32,382.50	663.58
Preparation of Client Account Summaries / Reports	0.00	12.55	0.00	0.55	13.10	8,499.75	648.84
Reconciliation of Investments to Trusts	61.00	84.45	42.00	0.20	187.65	99,346.25	529.42
Review of Investment Strategy and Investment Valuation	0.00	13.80	0.00	4.80	18.60	9,945.00	534.68
Strategy Planning & Control	5.00	6.60	0.25	0.30	12.15	8,318.00	684.61
Dry Trusts							
Call Centre Dealings	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.20	139.00	695.00
Client Communications	1.80	1.35	0.00	1.45	4.60	2,301.75	500.38
Property Management & Sales	2.40	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.40	1,695.50	706.46
Reconciliation of Property Assets to Trusts	0.80	1.75	0.00	34.90	37.45	7,248.75	193.56
Strategy Planning & Control	5.30	19.90	0.00	0.00	25.20	17,098.50	678.51
Tax Matters	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.00	0.25	95.00	380.00
Total Hours:	147.30	335.15	59.00	266.40	807.85		467.00
Total Time Costs: (£)	108,506.00	190,002.75	22,420.00	56,334.00		377,262.75	



# Appendix 9 - Statement of Creditors' Rights

Rule numbers refer to Insolvency (England & Wales) Rules 2016 (as amended) Section or paragraph numbers refer to Insolvency Act 1986

If you require a copy of any relevant rule or section, please contact PTC@kroll.com

# Information for creditors on remuneration and expenses of Administrators

Information regarding the fees and expenses of Administrators, including details of the expense policy and hourly charge out rates for each grade of staff that may undertake work on this case, is in a document called "Administration: A Guide for Creditors on Insolvency Practitioner Fees". This can be viewed and downloaded from Kroll's website at:

https://www.kroll.com/en-gb/services/restructuring-advisory/creditor-guides-and-employee-fact-sheets

Should you require a copy, please contact this office.

Creditors may requisition a physical meeting of creditors for approval of the Joint Administrators' Proposals under Rule 15.6 of the Insolvency (England and Wales) Rules 2016

The Joint Administrators shall summon a physical meeting (1) if asked to do so by (a) creditors whose debts amount to at least 10% of the total debts of the Company or (b) 10% in number of creditors, or (c) 10 creditors, and (2) if the following procedures are followed:

The request for a requisitioned physical meeting must be made within five business days of the date on which the Joint Administrators' Proposals were delivered and include either:

- (22) a statement of the requesting creditor's claim together with—
  - a list of the creditors or contributories concurring with the request and of the amounts of their respective claims or values, and
  - confirmation of concurrence from each creditor; or

(b) a statement of the requesting creditor's debt and that that alone is sufficient without the concurrence of other creditors

Creditor(s) may be requested to meet the costs of a requisitioned decision and a deposit will be required for this purpose. These costs may be ordered to be paid as an expense of the Administration if the creditors so resolve.

If you wish to request a physical creditors' meeting, please complete and return the physical meeting requisition form available on Portal.

Creditors may requisition a decision to be made by all of the creditors for approval of the Joint Administrators' Proposals under para 52(2) Schedule B1 Insolvency Act 1986

The Joint Administrators shall seek a decision from the Company's creditors as to whether they approve the Proposals if requested by creditors of the Company, whose debts amount to at least 10% of the total debts of the Company. Such a request must be received by the Joint Administrators within eight business days of the date on which the Joint Administrators' Statement of Proposals is delivered.



~ 49 ~

The request for a requisitioned decision must include a statement of the purpose of the proposed decision and either—

- (22) a statement of the requesting creditor's claim together with—
  - a list of the creditors or contributories concurring with the request and of the amounts of their respective claims or values, and
  - confirmation of concurrence from each creditor; or

(b) a statement of the requesting creditor's debt and that that alone is sufficient without the concurrence of other creditors

Creditors may be requested to meet the costs of a requisitioned decision and a deposit will be required for this purpose. These costs may be ordered to be paid as an expense of the Administration if the creditors so resolve.

A requisitioned decision must be made within 28 days of receiving the deposit or the expiry of 14 days without the Administrators informing the requesting creditor of the deposit sum.



Appendix 10 – Proof of Debt Form



# PROOF OF DEBT - GENERAL FORM

	Philips Trust Corporation Limited - in Administration Company Registration No. 11099933						
	Date of Administration						
1.	Name of Creditor (If a company please also give company registration number and if non-UK, country of registration)	. 22 April 2022					
2.	Address of Creditor for correspondence						
	Contact telephone number of creditor						
	Email address of creditor	REF					
3.	Total amount of claim, including any Value Added Tax, as at the date of administration, less any payments made after this date in relation to the claim, any deduction under R14.20 of the Insolvency (England & Wales) Rules 2016 and any adjustment by way of set-off in accordance with R14.24 and R14.25						
4.	Details of any documents by reference to which the debt can be substantiated (please attach)						
5.	If amount in 3 above includes outstanding uncapitalised interest please state amount	£					
6.	Particulars of how and when debt incurred (If you need more space append a continuation sheet to this form)						
7.	Particulars of any security held, the value of the security, and the date it was given						
8.	Particulars of any reservation of title claimed, in respect of goods supplied to which the claim relates						
9.	Signature of creditor or person authorised to act on h	iis behalf					
	Name in BLOCK LETTERS	DATE					
	Are you the sole member of the creditor?	YES / NO					
	Position with or in relation to creditor						
	Address of person signing (if different from 2 above)						
Admitt	ed to vote for £	Admitted for dividend for £					
Date		Date					
Admin	istrator	Administrator					

# Appendix 11 - Definitions

Word or Phrase	Definition
the Act	The Insolvency Act 1986 (as amended)
the Administration Period	The period from the Appointment Date to the date of this report
After Today / the Shareholder	After Today Ltd, the sole shareholder of the Company (Company Number: 11911944)
the Application	The application to the Court by the Director for the appointment of the Joint Administrators heard on 22 April 2022
the Appointment Date	22 April 2022, being the date of appointment of the Joint Administrators
Barclays / the Bank	Barclays Bank plc, with whom the Company banked
BEIS	Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy
Category 1 Expenses	The Joint Administrators' expenses, in dealing with the Administration, to persons providing the service to which the expense relates and who are not an associate of the Administrator. These expenses can be paid without prior approval
Category 2 Expenses	The Joint Administrators' expenses, in dealing with the Administration, to associates or where there is an element of shared costs. Such expenses require approval by creditors before payment
Clients	The settlor(s) of each of the trusts of which the Company is the trustee, as defined by the Order
the Company / PTC	Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration) (Company Number: 11099933)
the Court	High Court of Justice, Business and Property Courts of England and Wales
Dains	Dains Accountants Limited, independent third party accountants instructed, initially by the Company and then the Joint Administrators, to undertake a forensic reconstruction of the Company's client ledger
the Director	Kay Collins, the sole director of the Company
Deedbank	Deedbank (Document Storage) Limited (Company Number: 03333688)



Dry Trust	Property investment trust scheme
EC Regulation	EC Regulation on Insolvency Proceedings 2000
EPG	The Estate Planning Group (Holdings) Limited (dissolved) (Company Number: 07430415)
Estate Planner	An Estate Planner is an individual who assists in the preparation tasks that serve to manage an individual's asset base in the event their incapacitation or death
FCA	Financial Conduct Authority
the Former Director	Richard Wells
FTC	The Family Trust Corporation Limited (Company Number: 07430382)
Glaisyers	Glaisyers Solicitors LLP, solicitors engaged to provide legal assistance with the Administration and trust matters
HMRC	HM Revenue and Customs
Hybrid Trust	Combination of a Dry Trust and Wet Trust which contains both properties and investments
IAR	Introducer Appointed Representative - A non- authorised firm that has been appointed by an FCA authorised fi to perform limited regulated activity
IMC	Investment Management Company
Insolvency Estate	The assets and liabilities of the Company in Administration, which exclude the Trust Estate
the Joint Administrators	Geoffrey Bouchier of Kroll, The Shard, 32 London Bridge Street, London, SE1 9SG and James Saunders of Kroll, The Chancery, 58 Spring Gardens, Manchester, M2 1EW
Kroll	Kroll Advisory Ltd.
Leasehold Premises	The Company's leasehold premises at Suite B 11th Floor, 5 Exchange Quay Salford, M5 3EF
LPA	Lasting Power of Attorney
NBS	Newcastle Building Society



the Order	The Court Order dated 22 April 2022 obtained in the High Court of Justice, Business and Property Courts of England & Wales (ChD) (Court Number: CR-2022-001095)
the Portal	The online portal where documents issued to Clients and creditors of the Company have been uploaded
Preferential Creditor(s)	A creditor with a claim that ranks in priority to other unsecured creditors, to floating charge holders and the prescribed part.  Preferential debts are either 'ordinary', such as certain employee claims, or 'secondary', such as HMRC's claims for VAT and PAYE income tax, which will rank for payment after the ordinary preferential claims are paid in full.
the Prescribed Part	Pursuant to Section 176A of the Act, where a floating charge is created after 15 September 2003, a designated amount of the Company's net property (floating charge assets less costs of realisation) shall be made available to unsecured creditors
the Progress Hearing	The Court hearing set for 6 July 2022 whereby the Joint Administrators will update the Court on their key findings including their proposed methodology of how they plan to deal with the ongoing management of the Trusts and a proposal for distributing Trust assets to Clients
the Report to Court	The Proposed Administrators' Report to Court dated 11 April 2022 contained in the Administration application
RPS	Redundancy Payments Service
the Rules	The Insolvency (England & Wales) Rules 2016 (as amended)
the Secured Creditor / BSTL	Barclays Security Trustee Limited, the holder of a debenture conferring of fixed and floating charges over the Company's assets
SIP 9	Statement of Insolvency Practice 9 – Industry best practice for Insolvency Practitioners in relation to disclosure of remuneration are expenses
SOA	Statement of Affairs, documentation to be supplied by the Director outlining the Company's financial position as at the Appointment Date
SRA	Solicitors Regulation Authority
Terms & Conditions	Being the Terms & Conditions published on the Company's websit and available to Lenders



Trust	A legal arrangement created by a settlor whereby a person (a trustee) holds property as its nominal owner for the benefit of one or more beneficiaries
Trust Estate	The assets subject to Trust and which are under the control, and supervision, of the Company
Wet Trust	Cash investment trust scheme
WWC	The Will Writing Company Limited (dissolved) (Company Number: 03616406)



# Appendix 12 – Notice about this Statement of Proposals

This Statement of Proposals has been prepared by Geoffrey Bouchier and James Saunders, the Joint Administrators of the Company, solely to comply with their statutory duty under Paragraph 49, Schedule B1 of the Insolvency Act 1986 to lay before creditors a statement of their Proposals for achieving the purpose of the Administration, and for no other purpose. It is not suitable to be relied upon by any other person, or for any other purposes, or in any other context.

Furthermore, whilst every effort has been made to ensure that the information contained within this Statement of Proposals is reliable; in particular in relation to historic events, predecessor and associated businesses, the Joint Administrators have relied heavily upon interviews with current and former employees and Directors and information available in Company books and records. The Joint Administrators have not in many instances been able to validate the information provided.

These Proposals have not been prepared in contemplation of them being used, and are not suitable to be used, to inform any investment decision in relation to the debt of any financial interest in the Company or any other company in the same group.

Any estimated outcomes for creditors included in these Proposals are illustrative only and cannot be relied upon as guidance as to the actual outcomes for creditors.

Any person that chooses to rely on these Proposals for any purpose or in any context other than under Paragraph 49, Schedule B1 of the Insolvency Act 1986 does so at their own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Joint Administrators do not assume any responsibility and will not accept any liability in respect of these Proposals.

Geoffrey Bouchier and James Saunders are authorised to act as insolvency practitioners by the Insolvency Practitioners Association.

The Joint Administrators are bound by the Insolvency Code of Ethics.

The Joint Administrators act as agent for the Company and contract without personal liability. The appointments of the Joint Administrators are personal to them and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, Kroll Advisory Ltd. does not assume any responsibility and will not accept any liability to any person in respect of these Proposals or the conduct of the Administration.



~ 56 ~

Appendix 13 – Notice of Invitation to Form a Creditors' Committee



# Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration)

Company number: 11099933

High Court of Justice, Business and Property Courts of England and Wales, Insolvency and

Companies List (Chd), Companies No. 001095 of 2022

#### NOTICE OF INVITATION TO FORM A COMMITTEE

The primary purpose of a Committee is to assist the Administrators in fulfilling their duties. Further detail on the rights, duties and the functions of the Committee can be found here:

# https://www.kroll.co.uk/assets/pdfs-international/uk/a-quide-for-creditors.pdf

This is a link to the R3 (Association of Business Recovery Professionals) booklet 'Liquidation / Creditors' Committees and Commissioners: A Guide for Creditors' issued in conjunction with the Recognised Professional Bodies.

This notice is an invitation to creditors to decide whether a Committee should be established if sufficient creditors are willing to be members of the Committee.

Nominations are therefore invited for membership of the Committee: if you wish to be considered please complete the attached Nomination for Membership of the Committee form. Nominations (plus a completed Proof of Debt if not already provided) must be delivered to:

Geoffrey Bouchier - Joint Administrator The Chancery 58 Spring Gardens Manchester M2 1EW

Email: PTC@kroll.com By 30 June 2022

Nominations will only be accepted if the Joint Administrator is satisfied as to the creditor's eligibility.

Therefore, the creditor must have submitted a Proof of Debt, the debt is not fully secured and the proof has not been wholly disallowed for voting purposes, or the proof has not been wholly rejected for the purpose of distribution or dividend.

# \* A Committee is a

- Creditors' Committee in an Administration, an Administrative Receivership, and a Bankruptcy
- Liquidation Committee in a Creditors' Voluntary Liquidation and a Winding Up by the Court

Geoffrey Bouchier – Joint Administrator

Dated 15 June 2022

Appendix 14 - Nomination for Membership of the Creditors' Committee and Consent to Act Form



# Nomination for Membership of the Committee and Consent to Act

# Philips Trust Coporation Limited (In Administration)

Company registration number: 11099933

A Creditor can act in person as a Committee member or appoint a representative to act on their behalf on the Committee.

PART A: Creditor details		
	(Name of creditor),	
consent to act as a member of Administration	the Committee in respect of Philips Trust Corporation Limited – In	
Address of Creditor:		
Reference:		
appropriate and for this purpos	business being conducted by electronic communication as and when e my/my representative's designated email address is:-	
(leave blank if consent is not gi		
Part B: Creditor's Representat	ive	
The following person is duly a	authorised by proxy to act as the creditor's representative on the	
Name of Representative:		
Address of Representative:		
Signature of Representative:		
Representative's Tel:		
Signature of Creditor or autho	rised person	
Name in block letters		
Position or relationship with creditor/other authority for signature		

Appendix 15 – Notice of Seeking Decision by Deemed Consent of the Proposals



# Notice of seeking a decision of creditors by deemed consent

Name of Company

Philips Trust Corporation Limited (In Administration)

Company Number

11099933

In the

High Court Justice. The Business and Property Courts in of England and Wales, Insolvency and Companies List (Chd) Court Case Number

001095 of 2022

We,

Geoffrey Bouchier of Kroll, The Shard, 32 London Bridge Street, London, SE1 9SG and James Saunders of Kroll, The Chancery, 58 Spring Gardens, Manchester, M2 1EW

hereby give notice to the creditors of (b) Philips Trust Corporation Limited, The Chancery, 58 Spring Gardens, Manchester, M2 1EW

That, pursuant to Rule 15.7 we are seeking decisions using deemed consent. We consider that the deemed consent procedure is the most appropriate method for seeking a decision of creditors in this instance for the following reasons:

- The decisions to be made are not contentious;
- It is the most cost effective and efficient way of obtaining a decision; and
- We believe it is in the best interests of creditors to do so.

The decisions being sought using deemed consent are:

# **Proposed Decision 1**

That the Joint Administrators may continue to deal with such outstanding matters in relation to the Company as the Joint Administrators consider necessary until such time as the Administration ceases to have effect.

#### **Proposed Decision 2**

That the Joint Administrators may do all such other things and generally exercise all of their powers as contained in Schedule 1 of the Act, as they, in their sole and absolute discretion, consider desirable or expedient in order to achieve the purpose of the Administration.

#### **Proposed Decision 3**

That the Joint Administrators may investigate and, if appropriate, pursue any claims the Company may have for the benefit of the Company's creditors.

#### **Proposed Decision 4**

That the Joint Administrators may seek an extension to the Administration period if considered necessary.

#### **Proposed Decision 5**

Enable the Company to continue to act as Trustee of the Trusts under the supervision of the Joint Administrators.

#### **Proposed Decision 6**

That the Joint Administrators may make distributions to the Secured and Preferential Creditors where funds allow.

#### **Proposed Decision 7**

That the Joint Administrators may make distributions to the Unsecured Creditors from the Prescribed Part, where applicable.

# **Proposed Decision 8**

That the Joint Administrators may make further distributions to the Unsecured Creditors over and above the Prescribed Part, if funds become available and apply to Court for authority to do so, where applicable.

#### **Proposed Decision 9**

That the Joint Administrators may apply to Court for the Administration order to cease to have effect from a specified time and for the return of control to the Director.

#### **Proposed Decision 10**

That the Joint Administrators may place the Company into Creditors' Voluntary Liquidation if deemed appropriate. It is proposed that the Joint Administrators, currently Geoffrey Bouchier and James Saunders of Kroll would act as Joint Liquidators should the Company be placed into Creditors' Voluntary Liquidation. The creditors may nominate a different person as the proposed Liquidator, provided the nomination is received at this office prior to the approval of these Proposals. Any action required or authorised under any enactment to be done by the Joint Liquidators is to be done by all or any one or more of them.

#### Proposed Decision 11

That the Joint Administrators may petition to the Court for a winding-up order placing the Company into Compulsory Liquidation if deemed appropriate. It is proposed that the Joint Administrators, currently Geoffrey Bouchier and James Saunders of Kroll would act as Joint Liquidators should the Company be placed into Compulsory Liquidation without further recourse to creditors. Any action required or authorised under any enactment to be done by the Joint Liquidators is to be done by all or any one or more of them.

#### **Proposed Decision 12**

That the Joint Administrators may take the necessary steps to give notice of move from Administration to dissolution with the Registrar of Companies because (1) the Company has no remaining property which might permit a distribution to its creditors, and (2) all outstanding matters have been satisfactorily completed.

#### **Proposed Decision 13**

That the Joint Administrators may allow the Administration to end automatically.

# **Proposed Decision 14**

That a Creditors' committee will be established if there are sufficient creditors willing to act as members of the committee.

The decision date will be 30 June 2022.

If the decision date expires without 10% in value of creditors objecting to deemed consent, or one of the thresholds for requisitioning a physical meeting being met, the creditors will be treated as having made the proposed decisions at 23:59 hours on the decision date.

If you agree with the proposed decisions, no further action is required.

A creditor may appeal a decision in accordance with Rule 15.35 by applying to Court not later than 21 days after the decision date.

# What you need to do if you wish to object to the deemed consent decisions

Creditors who wish to object to the proposed decisions must do so, in writing, by sending notice stating their objection together with a proof of debt form, not later than the decisions date detailed above, failing which the objection will be disregarded.

Any creditor whose debt is treated as a small debt (i.e. £1,000 or less) must still deliver a proof of that debt, not later than the decision date detailed above, if they wish to object to deemed consent, failing which the objection will be disregarded.

Any creditor who has opted out from receiving notices may still object to deemed consent, provided they provide a proof of debt not later than the decision date, failing which the objection will be disregarded.

Please note, if objecting to no Creditors' Committee being formed, please also provide any nominations for membership of the committee. Such nominations for membership must be delivered to the Joint Administrators by the decision date and can only be accepted if we are satisfied as to the creditors' eligibility under Rule 17.4.

It is our responsibility to aggregate any objections to see if 10% or more in value of creditors have objected to deemed consent.

If this threshold is met, the deemed consent procedure will terminate without a decision(s) being made. If a decision(s) is sought on the same matter(s), it/they will be sought by a decision procedure.

# What you need to do if you wish to request a physical meeting to consider the proposed decisions

Creditors who meet one of the thresholds set out in the Insolvency Act 1986 may, within five business days from the date of delivery of this notice, require a physical meeting to be held to consider the decision(s). In order to do so a creditor must complete and return the physical meeting requisition form, available at the Portal.

The relevant thresholds are 10% in value of creditors, 10% in number of creditors, or 10 creditors.

If one of these thresholds is not met, the deemed consent procedure will continue as outlined above.

If you require any further details, wish to lodge an objection or want to request a physical meeting, please contact my office at the details shown.

Signed



**Geoffrey Bouchier**Joint Administrator

Dated 15 June 2022

Administrators' postal address: Kroll Advisory Ltd., The Chancery, 58 Spring Gardens, Manchester, M2 1EW

Alternative contact name and details: Max Spolverato PTC@Kroll.com +44 (0) 161 827 9000